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THE BOARD’S ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2016

Company operations
Caruna Networks Oy is the parent company of Caruna Networks Group 

(Caruna). The parent company of Caruna Networks Oy is Suomi Power BV, 

domiciled in The Netherlands. In addition to Caruna Networks Oy, Caruna 

Group includes Caruna Networks Sähkönsiirto Oy, Caruna Networks Espoo Oy, 

Caruna Oy, and Caruna Espoo Oy. Caruna Networks Oy owns Caruna Networks 

Sähkönsiirto Oy and Caruna Networks Espoo Oy, which in turn own Caruna Oy 

and Caruna Espoo Oy. 

Of the Group companies, Caruna Oy and Caruna Espoo Oy (Caruna companies) 

conduct regional and distribution network operations in the electricity 

networks they own. They are regional and distribution network operators as 

referred to in the Electricity Market Act, within their areas of responsibility. 

Caruna Networks Oy, Caruna Networks Espoo Oy, and Caruna Networks 

Sähkönsiirto Oy provide support services for the entire Caruna Group.

Operating and 
fi nancial review
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Relevant events during  
the financial period 
In 2016, Caruna continued the extensive network reliability improvement pro-

jects, initiated in 2014. Caruna also developed its core information systems 

and operational processes, specifically to meet the needs of an electricity 

distribution company.

The storm Rauli in August was the most significant adverse weather event 

to cause electricity distribution outages in the South, Southwest and West 

Finland in 2016. The network improvement programme ensures that by 2028 

Caruna will meet the revised objectives for the security of supply, laid down in 

the amended Electricity Market Act, and will thus be able to restore the power 

for its customers within six hours in urban areas and within 36 hours in rural 

areas.

Caruna is improving the reliability of electricity distribution and minimising 

weather damage primarily by substituting overhead lines with underground 

cabling in areas particularly exposed to falling trees. Caruna is also increasing 

the automation of its network to quickly isolate any faults and restore power 

to undamaged parts of the network. During this financial period, the main 

focus shifted from urban areas to sparsely populated areas in Southwest 

Finland, Satakunta, Southern Finland, Ostrobothnia, and Koillismaa. 

Caruna companies increased their electricity distribution fees on 1 March 

2016, to enable them to carry out network improvement projects. This 

price increase caused a public debate on distribution pricing and the extent 

of one-time increases. As a result of the negotiations with the Consumer 

Ombudsman, Caruna companies reduced their fixed basic charges by 25% for 

a period of 12 months, until the end of February 2017.

Finnish electricity network companies are regulated by the Energy Authority 

in regulatory periods of four years. The new regulatory period began on 1 

January 2016. The regulatory methods applicable from 2016 to 2019 and 

from 2020 to 2023 will allow electricity network companies to invest in the 

electricity network to improve their reliability of supply. The Energy Authority 

monitors the electricity distribution pricing in four-year regulatory periods to 

ensure it remains on a reasonable level. At the end of the previous regulatory 

period in 2015, Caruna Oy showed an overincome which was taken into consid-

eration in the 2016 pricing, resulting in the company showing an underincome 

at the end of 2016. 
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In the spring 2016, the parent company of the Group, Caruna Networks Oy, 

refinanced their loans and financing collaterals generated by the company 

acquisition as Caruna was formed in March 2014. Refinancing enables the 

implementation of Caruna’s strategy and the development of the company 

according to set targets. In December, Caruna also signed a loan agreement 

of EUR 200 million with the European Investment Bank, to implement network 

improvement projects.

CEO Ari Koponen announced his resignation from his post in October. He 

continued in an advisory role until the end of the year. In December, the Board 

of Directors of Caruna Networks Oy appointed Tomi Yli-Kyyny as the new CEO. 

He will start in May 2017. Meanwhile, the Group’s Chief Financial Officer,  

Jyrki Tammivuori, took on the responsibilities of acting CEO.

Electricity supply volumes
Compared to the long-term average, temperatures have been above the 

normal during the financial period, which was reflected in the electricity 

distribution volumes, similarly to the previous years. The year 2016, however, 

was colder than 2015, and a higher demand for heating resulted in a slight 

increase in the electricity supply volume. During the financial period, the 

electricity supply volume in the distribution network amounted to a total of 9.6 

(9.1) TWh and to a total of 2.9 (2.8) TWh in the regional network.

Our customer base
Caruna’s customer base has grown steadily during the past years. The num-

ber of customers at the end of the financial period was 664 (655) thousand.

By the end of the financial period, the numbers of the customers of individual 

companies were as follows (thousand customers): 

Company 2016 2015

Caruna Oy 463 459

Caruna Espoo Oy 201 196

 

 

Customer satisfaction is measured on a monthly basis through the Net 

Promoter Score index. In 2016, the questionnaire covered all contacts to 

our customer service to achieve more comprehensive results compared to 

previous years.
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Reliability of supply in  
electricity distribution
The reliability of electricity supply is the cornerstone of the Caruna’s activi-

ties. Caruna aims to ensure a reliable supply of electricity for its customers, 

and Caruna companies offer their customers a 24-hour phone line for assis-

tance in the case of a fault. 

Caruna’s network was spared any major damage caused by storms or heavy 

snowfall in 2016. The average duration of power supply interruptions per cus-

tomer, or the System Average Interruption Duration Index (SAIDI), reduced to 

95 (133) minutes, which is a good level. The reliability of supply rate remained 

on the same level as the year before; 99.98 %.

Caruna companies invested in improving the reliability of supply in all of their 

network areas during 2016. The level of investment in network improve-

ment continued to increase, amounting to a total of EUR 238,016 thousand 

(172,850) thousand in Caruna’s network area.

Renovation of medium voltage networks remained the company’s main focus 

in network improvement projects. Caruna mainly substitutes overhead power 

lines with underground cabling, as these are safe from strong storms and 

heavy snowfall. In addition, Caruna continued its structural and technical 

network improvements to speed up fault repairs. 

A total of 4,566 (4,026) kilometres of low and medium voltage cable network 

was built during the year. By the end of the financial period, 40 (36) % of the 

network was cabled.
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Financial key figures
Net sales amounted to EUR 384,028 (2015: 287,523 and 2014: 180,438) 

thousand in 2016. Operating profit was 119,392 (2015: 25,608 and 2014: loss 

of 60,362) thousand and losses for the period EUR –31,631 (2015: –140,393 

and 2014: -151,020) thousand. The unprofitable financial performance of 

the period resulted mainly from depreciation, financing costs and fair value 

adjustments.

The following key figures represent the Group’s financial position and perfor-

mance (EUR thousands):

EUR 2016 2015 2014*)

Net sales 384,028 287,523 180,438

Operating profit/-loss 119,392 25,608 -60,362

Operating profit/-loss,  
% of sales 31.1% 8.9% -33.5%

Return of equity, ROE, % 22.6% 216.7% **)

Equity ratio, % -4.01% -3.34% -0.16%

 
*) Consolidated group numbers in 2014 are from nine months 

**) The ratio can not be calculated, since both equity and result before taxes are negative

The total equity of the Group continued to be negative mainly due to financing 

costs and fair value adjustments. 

It is possible for the companies to strengthen the equity when necessary. 

Caruna Group’s impairment testing made at the end of December did not 

indicate any need for impairment bookings.

Financing
The Group refinanced its loans in spring 2016. The purpose of refinancing was 

to guarantee the conditions for the Group’s operations in the long term and to 

secure financing for the network improvement programme. Refinancing was 

carried out in three stages to allow the Group to arrange diversified funding 

from several capital markets. The total of the first refinancing stage in 

February came up to EUR 1,930 million, of which EUR 825 million consisted of 

bank loans from a group of 12 banks. The banks also granted Caruna a capex 

facility of EUR 600 million and a revolving credit facility of EUR 60 million. 

In addition to the bank loans, Caruna Networks Oy borrowed EUR 1,105 million 

from Transmission Finance DAC, a company that issues bonds and loans to 
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institutional investors, as part of a 10-billion euro bond programme. The 

loans granted by Transmission Finance DAC mature in 10 to 30 years. At the 

same time, Caruna Networks Oy paid off its junior loan of EUR 150 million and 

reduced its shareholder loan by EUR 149 million.

At the beginning of May, the Group partially refinanced its bank loan taken out 

in February. In total, refinancing operations amounted to EUR 326 million. The 

Transmission Finance DAC loans taken out mature in 10 to 20 years.

The Group refinanced its remaining bank loans at the end of May. In total, 

refinancing operations amounted to EUR 500 million. The Transmission Finance 

DAC loan taken out matures in seven years.

In December 2016, Caruna Networks Oy signed a loan agreement of EUR 200 

million with the European Investment Bank. The loan period is 10 years and the 

final interest rate will be determined at the time the loan is taken out. No loan 

was taken out during 2016.

During the financial period, Caruna has taken out external floating rate capex 

facility loans for a total of EUR 170,000 (174,000) thousand. These mature in 

February 2021. By the end of the period, the Group’s external loans amounted 

to a total of EUR 2,106,151 (1,632,000) thousand. Caruna has hedged against 

these floating interest rates with interest rate swap contracts.

The Group had a total of EUR 933,642 (1,040,349) thousand of fixed interest 

rate shareholder loans at the end of the financial period. The shareholder loan 

will be repaid on demand, but at the latest in February 2047. The interest for 

the shareholder loan is paid biannually.

The available committed facility limits are the capex facility, EUR 430 million; 

revolving credit facility, EUR 60 million; bank overdraft, EUR 30 million; liquidity 

facility, EUR 20 million; and undrawn bank loan, EUR 200 million. 

The total financing costs for the financial period were EUR 177,211 (170,021) 

thousand and outstanding interest in the balance sheet was EUR 38,830 

(24,734) thousand.

Caruna complied with the covenant terms of the loan agreements during the 

financial period.

Standard & Poor’s has assigned Caruna a long-term corporate credit rating of 

BBB+ and a stable outlook.
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Investments
Caruna invested a total of EUR 283,393 (204,527) thousand during the finan-

cial period, mainly in improving the reliability of the network. 

Employees
By the end of the financial period, the numbers of employees of individual 

Group companies were as follows:

Company
Number 

 of employees  
31 Dec 2016

Number  
of employees 
 31 Dec 2015

Number  
of employees  
31 Dec 2014

Caruna Oy 213 207 255

Caruna Espoo Oy 8 11 21

Caruna Networks Oy 16 17 13

Caruna Networks 
Sähkönsiirto Oy 29 31 37

Caruna Networks 
Espoo Oy 7 8 11

Total 273 274 337
 

 

The average numbers of employees of individual Group companies were as 

follows during the financial period:

Company Average 2016 Average 2015 Average 2014

Caruna Oy 213 233 300

Caruna Espoo Oy 8 15 26

Caruna Networks Oy 18 17 3

Caruna Networks 
Sähkönsiirto Oy 29 33 8

Caruna Networks 
Espoo Oy 7 9 2

Total 275 307 339 

 

During the financial period, the wages and salaries of the Group were EUR 

17,757 thousand (in 2015: EUR 19,462 thousand, and in 2014: EUR 14,798 

thousand (for a financial period of nine months). 

Corporate responsibility
Caruna’s corporate responsibility is presented in greater detail in a separate 

corporate responsibility report which will be published on the website at 

caruna.fi/en. 
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Research and development 
activities
In 2016, the company focused on improving the reliability of the electricity net-

work. Investment in research and development projects fell from 2015 during 

the financial period. Caruna Group’s total research and development expenses 

for the period amounted to EUR 966 (2015: 1,876 and 2014: 1,534) thousand, 

corresponding to 0.35 (2015: 0.69 and 2014: 0.62) per cent of operating 

expenses.

One of the most important research projects was the two-year long ADA-

project (Asset Data Acquisition), initiated in 2015 and aimed at improving the 

quality and usability of data on network component conditions and characteris-

tics. 

The company launched a concept project regarding low-voltage networks dur-

ing 2016. This project is looking for new ways of building low-voltage networks, 

able to fulfil future electricity supply needs. 

Financial risks
INTEREST RATE RISK

Changes in the market rate affect the Group’s net interest rates, as well as 

the fair value of interest-bearing receivables, liabilities and derivative financial 

instruments. The aim of hedging the interest rate risk exposure is to reduce 

the effect of changes in interest rates on the income statement, balance sheet 

and cash flow, while also taking into account the market value of the net debt 

position. 

Caruna has hedged against interest rate risks by opting mainly for loans with 

fixed interest rates. 

CURRENCY RISK

Changes in currency rates have impact on group’s net financing costs as 

well as interest bearing liabilities and the fair values of derivatives. The aim 

of hedging the currency risk exposure is to reduce the effect of changes in 

income statement, balance sheet and cash flow, while also taking into account 

the market value of the net debt position.
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LIQUIDITY RISK

Caruna manages the Group’s liquidity risk by ensuring the flexibility and avail-

ability of financing with sufficient binding credit limits. The Group uses several 

sources of financing and its liabilities are long-term. The Group has committed 

credit limits and other credit facilities that it can use to balance liquidity. 

CREDIT RISK 
The Group’s policies determine the credit rating requirements for customers, 

investment transactions and derivative financial instrument counterparties, 

as well as the investment transaction principles. When drawing up a supply or 

connection contract, collateral or advance payment can be set for the custom-

ers of Caruna companies, for the payment of outstanding claims based on the 

supply contract. Collaterals provide security against possible credit losses. 

The level of credit losses decreased somewhat from the previous year. With 

the current management of monitoring of receivables, Caruna is able to moni-

tor the accumulation of credit losses also in the future. 

PRICE RISK

Caruna has hedged the price risks of purchasing electricity for grid losses by 

electricity derivatives.

Most significant identified 
operational risks related  
to operations 
EXCEPTIONAL WEATHER CONDITIONS

The most significant operational risks relate to exceptional weather condi-

tions, such as storms, heavy snowfall, and exceptionally severe frosts, which 

can affect the reliability of electricity supply in the transmission and distribu-

tion network. The most important method of protection against distribution 

disturbances is to clear power line corridors and build networks underground, 

where they remain protected from the trees bent or felled by wind and snow. 

Caruna also develops the structure of its networks to allow a faulty part 

be isolated during a disturbance or interruption of electricity supply, which 

minimises the number of customers affected by it. 

Careful beforehand planning enables adequate preparation, which is essential 

in case of a disturbance.
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UNFAVOURABLE CHANGES IN THE REGULATION ENVIRONMENT

In the long run, operational risks often emerge as a result of changes in reg-

ulations, but also, in the short term, of various interpretations of regulation 

decisions and rules. However, the Finnish regulatory environment can be 

considered stable. The current regulation period commenced at the beginning 

of 2016, and it provides an 8-year prognosis instead of a 4-year one. 

 

SUPPLIER RISK

Caruna’s suppliers may, due to liquidation or other reasons, become unable 

to deliver commissioned network projects and services. Caruna’s purchase 

model will ensure a favourable and sound position for competition in each 

of its network areas. A systematic management model for contractors and 

services ensures Caruna promptly becomes aware of any contractor-specific 

problems, thus making it possible to step in and take the necessary corrective 

actions in time.

 

INSURANCES

Caruna Oy has insured its operations with appropriate and comprehensive 

insurances.

 
Composition of the Board  
of Directors and committees

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF CARUNA NETWORKS OY

Board of Directors, from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 

Juha Laaksonen (Chair), Marcus Ayre (until 23 March 2016), Ralph Berg, 

Jouni Grönroos, Niall Mills, Tomas Pedraza, Gregor Kurth (deputy member), 

Alejandro Lopez Delgado (deputy member until 23 March 2016 and ordinary 

member from 23 March 2016) and Delphine Voeltzel (deputy member from 23 

March 2016). 

The Board met nine times during the financial period. 

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Caruna Networks Oy’s committees of the Board of Directors are the Audit 

Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and the Health, 

Safety and Environment Committee.
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The committees support the work of the Board by preparing and evaluating 

matters for discussion by the Board. Committee members are appointed by the 

Board. Each committee consists of three members. The term of each member 

runs until the end of the following Annual General Meeting. 

Audit Committee

Following the Annual General Meeting on 23 March 2016, Jouni Grönroos 

(Chair), Tomas Pedraza, and Delphine Voeltzel were appointed as com-

mittee members. Prior to the Annual General Meeting on 23 March 2016, 

committee members were Juha Laaksonen (Chair), Marcus Ayre, Ralph 

Berg, and Jouni Grönroos.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Following the Annual General Meeting on 23 March 2016, Juha Laaksonen 

(Chair), Alejandro Lopez Delgado, and Niall Mills were appointed as commit-

tee members. Prior to the Annual General Meeting on 23 March 2016, com-

mittee members were Juha Laaksonen (Chair), Ralph Berg, and Niall Mills.

Health, Safety and Environment Committee

Following the Annual General Meeting on 23 March 2016, Niall Mills (Chair), 

Kenton Bradbury, and Tomas Pedraza were appointed as committee mem-

bers. The Annual General Meeting of 2015 appointed Niall Mills (Chair), 

Colin Hood, and Tomas Pedraza as committee members.

Auditors
The Audit firm Deloitte & Touche Oy, with APA Jukka Vattulainen as the main 

Auditor, has acted as Caruna Networks Oy’s auditing firm.

Changes in equity
Caruna Network Oy’s issued share capital is EUR 2,500 and the reserve of 

invested non-restricted equity is EUR 171,203,600.47. The company has no 

subordinated loans as defined in the Limited Liability Companies Act. Caruna 

Networks Oy’s profits for the financial period amounted to EUR 18,291,366.77 

(2015: losses -45,310,476.25).

Company’s shares
The company has 2,500 shares, of which each has an equal right to dividend 

and to the company’s assets. Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the 

Annual General Meeting. 
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Estimate of probable  
future developments
The consolidated financial statements of Caruna Networks Group is made 

assuming that the operations will continue according to normal business 

practice principles and requirements.

The Electricity Market Act requires electricity distribution companies to 

improve their security of supply by 2028. The Energy Authority has adopted 

more stringent targets in its regulatory methods for the current 2016–2019 

regulatory period and for the following four-year period. Companies operating 

in the sector, however, will continue to face cash flow challenges resulting 

from considerable investments. Caruna believes that it will meet the statutory 

targets concerning the security of supply by 2028. 

The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment began a process of evalu-

ating and amending the Electricity Market Act in 2016. The Ministry’s report 

sets out restrictions to one-time price increases and proposes a maximum 

one-time increase of 15 per cent per a 12-month period, including taxes. The 

proposed legislative amendment will clarify the position of consumers while 

allowing Caruna to continue its business operations as planned.

As the largest and leading company of the sector in Finland, Caruna continues 

to develop new procedures for network construction contractors, aimed at 

securing the completion of large network improvement projects in the long 

term. 

Finland’s National Energy and Climate Strategy, approved by the Government 

in November 2016, will affect the long-term operational planning of electricity 

distribution companies. Concern about Finland’s energy self-sufficiency and 

the effectiveness of its energy systems in the future has lead Caruna to ex-

plore how distribution system operators could contribute to achieving climate 

change targets and securing the supply of energy. 

Board of Directors’ proposal  
for dividend distribution
Caruna Networks Oy’s distributable unrestricted equity was  

EUR 133,232,809.77 in total and the profit for the period was EUR 

18,291,366.77. The Board of Directors proposes to the shareholders’ meeting 

that no dividends be paid for 2016, but rather that the profit be transferred to 

retained earnings.



Caruna Group    15Operating and financial review and financial statements 2016

EUR 1,000 Notes 2016 2015

NET SALES 384,028 287,523

Other operating income 5 7,626 9,184

Direct costs -81,851 -72,631

Personnel expenses 10 -21,806 -24,001

Other operating expenses 6 -55,679 -69,761

Depreciations, amortisations and 
impairment charges 9 -112,926 -104,706

-272,262 -271,099

Operating profit/loss 119,392 25,608

Finance income 7 4,263 223

Finance costs 8 -177,211 -170,021

Loss before taxes -53,556 -144,190

Income taxes 11 21,925 3,797

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD -31,631 -140,393

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent -31,631 -140,393

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (IFRS)

Consolidated financial  
statements (IFRS)



Caruna Group    16Operating and financial review and financial statements 2016

EUR 1.000 Notes 2016 2015

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD -31,631 -140,393

Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified  
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net movement on cash flow hedges -1,285 30,615

Income tax effect 11 257 -6,123

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods -1,028 24,492

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Re-measurement gains (losses) on defined  
benefit plans 22 -25 107

Income tax effect 11 5 -21

Net other comprehensive income not to be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods -20 86

Other comprehensive income for the period.  
net of tax -1,048 24,577

Total comprehensive income for the period.  
net of tax -32,679 -115,816

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent -32,679 -115,816

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS  

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (IFRS)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (IFRS)

EUR 1,000 Notes 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

Assets

Non-current assets

Goodwill 13 62,468 62,468

Intangible assets 13 1,578,794 1,576,499

Property, plant and equipment 12 2,075,414 1,907,522

Derivative financial instruments 16,17 738 1,224

Other non-current assets 15 473 50

Deferred tax assets 11 73 104

Total non-current assets 3,717,960 3,547,868

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 16,17,19 117,433 91,423

Derivative financial instruments 16,17 1,243 2,461

Cash and cash equivalents 17,20 59,790 63,899

Total current assets 178,466 157,783

Total assets 3,896,426 3,705,651
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (IFRS)

EUR 1.000 Notes 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

EQUITY AND LIABLILITIES

Share capital 3 3

Invested unrestricted equity fund 171,204 171,204

Other equity fund -2,477 -1,430

Retained earnings -325,152 -293,520

Total equity -156,422 -123,744

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16.17 3,032,925 2,804,282

Derivative financial instruments 16.17 31,323 38,243

Deferred tax liabilities 11 539,763 562,438

Provisions 21 246 247

Net employee defined benefit liabilities 22 111 66

Other non-current liabilities 16.17 304,957 306,592

Total non-current liabilities 3,909,325 3,711,867

Current liabilities

Trade payables 16.17.23 53,344 47,174

Other payables 23 32,860 25,727

Derivative financial instruments 16.17 665 5,686

Provisions 21 480 280

Other current liabilities 23 56,174 38,661

Total current liabilities 143,523 117,528

Total liabilities 4,052,848 3,829,395

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 3,896,426 3,705,651
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EUR 1,000

Share 
capital 

(Note 
25)

Invested 
unrestricted 

equity fund 
(Note 25 )

Retained 
earnings

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income Total

As at  
1 January 2016 3 171,204 -293,520 -1,736 306 -123,744

Loss for the period - - -31,631 - - -31,631

Other comprehensive 
income - - - -1,028 -20 -1,048

Total comprehensive 
income - - -31,631 -1,028 -20 -32,679

Issue of share capital - - - - - -

At 31 December 2016 3 171,204 -325,151 -2,764 286 -156,423

EUR 1,000

Share 
capital 

(Note 
25)

Invested 
unrestricted 

equity fund 
(Note 25 )

Retained 
earnings

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income Total

As at  
1 January 2015 3 171,204 -151,051 -26,228 220 -5,852

Reversal of revaluation - - -2,076 - - -2,076

Loss for the period - - -140,393 - - -140,393

Other comprehensive 
income - - - 24,492 86 24,577

Total comprehensive 
income - - -140,393 24,492 86 -115,816

Issue of share capital - - - - -

At 31 December 2015 3 171,204 -293,520 -1,736 306 -123,744

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (IFRS)

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent

Other equity components

Other equity components

The total equity of the Group continued to be negative mainly due to financing costs and and fair value adjust-

ments. It is possible for the individual companies to strenghten the equity when necessary. Caruna Group’s 

impairment testing performed 31.12.2016 did not indicate any need for impairment.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (IFRS)

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Net loss for the period -31,631 -140,393

Adjustments:

Taxes -21,925 -3,797

Finance costs - net 172,948 169,798

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges 112,926 104,706

263,949 270,707

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 232,318 130,314

Non-cash flow items -3,073 -4,333

Interest paid -112,682 -82,618

Interest received 2,615 222

Taxes -97 -366

-113,237 -87,095

Funds from operations 119,081 43,219

Change in working capital:

Change in trade and other receivables -26,830 4,649

Change in trade and other payablesa 6,819 -8,650

Change in connection fee payables -272 -283

-20,283 -4,284

Net cash flows from operating activities 98,798 38,935

Acquisition of shares, net of cash acquired - -1,000

Capital expenditure -273,162 -203,977

Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 544 27

Net cash flows used in investing activities -272,618 -204,950

Proceeds received from share issues - -

Loans withdrawal 2,926,531 174,000

Repayments of long-term liabilities -2,756,820 -

Net cash used in financing activities 169,711 174,000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -4,109 7,985

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 63,899 55,915

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 59,790 63,899
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1. Accounting policies applied to the 
consolidated financial statements 

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Caruna Networks Oy is a Finnish limited liability company with its domicile in 

Espoo, Finland. The registered office is located at Upseerinkatu 2 in Espoo. 

The operations of Caruna Networks Oy (the Company or Caruna Networks) and 

its subsidiaries (collectively, the Caruna Group) comprise electricity distribu-

tion in Finland.

The consolidated financial statements of the Caruna Group for the year ended 

31 December 2016 were approved by the Board of Directors on March 2, 

2017.

Information on the Caruna Group’s structure is provided in Note 3.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The consolidated financial statements of the Caruna Group has been prepared 

according the same accounting principles as in 2015 except the new and 

amended standards and interpretations. These new and amended standards 

and interpretations have no significant impact on Caruna Group’s consolidated 

financial statements but may have impact on the accounting treatment and 

disclosures of future transactions and events. 

The amendments allow an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries, 

joint ventures and associates in it separate financial statements. The amend-

ment do not have an impact on Caruna Group’s financial statements. 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure initiative

• Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting to Acquisitions of interests in joint 

operations

• Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: 

Applying the Consolidation Exception 

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of of Acceptable Methods 

of Depreciation and Amortisation.

• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 cycle 

• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (IFRS)
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2. Accounting policies
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Caruna Group have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, including International Accounting 

Standards (IAS) and Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) or its predecessor Standing Interpretations Committee 

(SIC). Additional information to the financial statements also comply with 

Finnish accounting principles and corporate legislation.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention, except for financial assets and financial liabilities (including 

derivative instruments) at fair value through profit and loss and hedged items 

hedged at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the 

parent company’s functional currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest 

thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with 

IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. The estimates are 

based on historical experience and various other assumptions that are 

believed to be reasonable, though actual results and timing could differ from 

the estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 

or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 

financial statements are disclosed in the chapter 3.
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2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company,  

Caruna Networks Oy, and all companies controlled by Caruna Group. 

Control is achieved when Caruna Group:

• has power over the entity;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with  

the entity; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

 

If facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 

of the three elements of control listed above the Caruna Group reassesses 

whether or not it controls an entity.

When Caruna Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an entity, 

it has power over the entity when the voting rights are sufficient to give it 

the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the entity unilaterally. 

Caruna Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 

whether or not its voting rights in an entity are sufficient to give it power, 

including:

• the size of Caruna Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size 

and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by Caruna Group, other vote holders or 

other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that Caruna Group 

has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities 

at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at 

previous shareholders’ meetings.

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when Caruna Group obtains control over 

the subsidiary and ceases when Caruna Group loses control of the subsidiary. 

Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the consolidated balance sheet or other com-

prehensive income from the date Caruna Group gains control until the date 

when Caruna Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 

subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with Caruna Group’s 

accounting policies.
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All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 

relating to transactions between members of Caruna Group are eliminated in 

full on consolidation.

Transmission Finance Designated Activity Company (“DAC”), a limited liability 

company incorporated in Ireland, is a special purpose vehicle established for 

the purpose of raising funds by issuance of bonds and other debt instruments, 

as applicable, and to safeguard the collective interests of debtors. Caruna 

Group sees it has no power or control over the company and it is not consoli-

dated to Caruna Group. More information is disclosed in the note 3. 

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.3.1 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the con-

sideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value of the 

assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange 

and the amount of interest in the acquiree. For each business combina-

tion, the Caruna Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling 

interest, if any, in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate 

share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net 

assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included 

in other operating expenses.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are recognised and measured 

initially at their fair values, irrespective of the extent of any non-con-

trolling interests. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair 

value of Caruna Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired 

is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 

value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognised directly in 

the statement of profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accu-

mulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 

goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 

date, allocated to each of Caruna Group’s cash-generating units that 

are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether 

other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested 

for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indica-

tion that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 
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cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment 

loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allo-

cated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based 

on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss 

for goodwill is recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss. An 

impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent 

periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part 

of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 

with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 

operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill 

disposed in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values 

of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit 

retained.

2.3.2 CLASSIFICATION OF CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

An asset or a liability is classified as current when it is expected to be 

realised in the normal operating cycle or within twelve months after 

the balance sheet date or it is classified as financial assets or liabilities 

held at fair value through profit or loss. Liquid funds are classified as 

current assets.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets 

and liabilities.

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and 

liabilities.

2.3.3 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and included 

in operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

2.3.4 REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the eco-

nomic benefits will flow to Caruna Group and revenue can be readily 

measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue 

comprises the fair value consideration received or receivable at the 

time of delivery of products and/or upon fulfilment of services. Revenue 

is shown, net of rebates, discounts, outage fees, value-added tax and 

selective taxes such as electricity tax. Revenue is recognised as follows:
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Sale of distribution of electricity 

Sale of distribution of electricity consists of transmission sales, outage 

fees and connection fees.

The prices charged of customers for the sale of distribution of electric-

ity are regulated. Any over or under income decided by the regulatory 

body is regarded as regulatory assets or liabilities that do not qualify 

for balance sheet recognition due to the fact that no contract defining 

the regulatory aspect has been entered into with a specific customer 

and thus the receivable is contingent on future delivery. The over or 

under income is currently credited or charged over a period of four 

years to the customer using the electricity connection at that time. No 

retroactive credit or charge can be made.

Electricity tax is levied on electricity distributed to the customers. The 

tax is calculated on the basis of a fixed amount per kWh. The rate varies 

between different classes of customers. Transmission sales in the 

Profit and Loss are shown net of electricity tax.

I. TRANSMISSION SALES 

Transmission of electricity and maintenance of networks are 

covered by transmission fees. Transmission fees are recognised 

as income at the time of delivery.

II. OUTAGE FEES 

Considerations paid to the customers due to interruption in the 

electricity distribution (outage fees) has been recorded against 

revenue. 

 

III. CONNECTION FEES 

Connection fees are charged from the customer when connecting 

to the electricity distribution grid. Connections agreed before 

August 2003 are refundable and recognised as liability. New 

connection fees from August 2003 are no longer refundable to 

customers and recorded as revenue as incurred. In practice 

the termination of a contract is rare and will only materialize 

when the property is demolished, abandoned, or otherwise made 

redundant.

Other Income 

Revenue from activities outside normal operations is reported in other 

income. This includes recurring items such as relocation fees and rental 

income.
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I. RELOCATION FEES 

If Caruna Group is requested to move a piece of the electricity 

network from its current location to a new one, the customer 

pays a relocation fee. Revenue is recognised when the new net-

work has been installed and connection has been performed.

II. RENTAL INCOME 

Rental income is arising from operating leases covering leases 

of electricity pylons and leased properties. The lease income is 

recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Interest income 

Interest income is from a financial asset is recognised when it is 

probable that the economic benefits will flow to Caruna Group and the 

amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued 

on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the ef-

fective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest 

income is included in finance income in the statement of profit or loss.

Dividends 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when Caruna Group’s 

right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when 

shareholders approve the dividend distribution.

2.3.5 INCOME TAXES 

 

Current income tax 

Current income tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. 

Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported in the consol-

idated statement of profit or loss because items of income or expense 

that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 

taxable or deductible. Caruna Group’s current tax asset or liability is 

calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differ-

ences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differ-

ences, except:

• When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition 

of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 

losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is prob-

able that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary 

difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 

the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 

nor taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 

reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 

re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 

that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 

deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 

are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liabil-

ity is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside the statement of 

profit or loss is recognised outside the statement of profit or loss. 

Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 

transaction either in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) or directly in 

equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally 

enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 

income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 

entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.3.6 FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by Caruna 

Group entities at their respective functional currency spot rate at the 

date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. The gains or losses 

from translation are recorded in the profit or loss statement. Exchange 

rate gains and losses from operations are recorded to corresponding 

items above EBIT. The exchange rate gains and losses from loans are 

recorded in financing income and expenses unless the loans are under 

hedge accounting thus exchange rate gains or losses are recorded in 

comprehensive statement of profit and loss and in hedge reserve.

2.3.7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly electricity distribution 

networks, machinery, equipment and buildings.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of an item 

and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the 

recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant 

and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, Caruna Group 

recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and 

depreciates them accordingly.

Acquired assets on the acquisition of a new subsidiary or a business 

are stated at their fair values at the date of acquisition.

Such repairs and maintenance costs that maintain the asset’s ability 

to produce future economic benefits, are recognised in the statement 

of profit or loss as incurred. The repair and maintenance costs that 

increase electricity network’s ability to produce future economic 

benefits are recognised as asset according to differentiation principles 

of Energy Authority. (EMV differentiation principles 3.1.2. Repair invest-

ments of the electricity network) 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over  

the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Distribution network    15-40 years 

Buildings and structures   20-40 years 

Tangible assets    20-40 years 

Machinery and equipment    3-20 years

Land and lands rights are not depreciated since they have indefinite 

useful lives.
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An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially 

recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 

on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included 

in the statements of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of prop-

erty, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end and 

adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

2.3.8 LEASES 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is 

based on the substance of the arrangement at the inception date. The 

arrangement is assessed for whether fulfilment of the arrangement is 

dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement 

conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not 

explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever terms of the lease 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 

lessee. All leases in Caruna Group are classified as operating leases.

Group as a lessee 

The Group has entered into various operating lease contracts. The re-

lated payments are treated as rentals and recognised in the statement 

of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms unless 

another systematic approach is more representative of the pattern of 

the user’s benefit. 

Group as a lessor 

Leases in which the Caruna Group does not transfer substantially all the 

risks and benefits of ownership of an asset to the lessee are classified 

as operating leases. Payments received under operating leases where 

the Group leases out fixed assets are recognised as other income in the 

statement of profit and loss.

2.3.9 BORROWING COSTS 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 

or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily takes a substantial 

period of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalised as part 

of the cost of the respective asset, until such time as the assets are 

substantially ready for their intended use. Investment income earned on 

the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expend-
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iture on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible 

for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 

occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 

entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.3.10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial rec-

ognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 

combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 

recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Internally 

generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not 

capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in the statement of 

profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or 

indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful econom-

ic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that 

the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 

amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 

reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 

expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 

economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the 

amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 

changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intan-

gible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are 

tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-gen-

erating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 

to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. 

If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a 

prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are 

measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Licences 

Licences for the use of intellectual property are granted for periods 

ranging between 5 and 10 years depending on the specific licences. 

The licences may be renewed at little or no cost to Caruna Group. As a 

result, those licences are assessed as having an indefinite useful life. 

Network licences acquired through business combinations have indefi-

nite useful live and are not amortised.

A summary of the policies applied to Caruna Group’s intangible assets 

is, as follows:

Computer software licenses   3-5 years 

Other intangible assets   5-10 years 

Street cable compensation   indefinite 

Network licenses    indefinite 

Goodwill     indefinite

2.3.11 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives at fair 

value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is the price that would 

be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The 

fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transac-

tion to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 

market for the asset or liability

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by 

Caruna Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assump-

tions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 

liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 

interest. Caruna Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate 

in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 

and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in 

the financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, 

described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant 

to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 

indirectly observable

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements 

on a recurring basis, Caruna Group determines whether transfers have 

occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categoriza-

tion (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

2.3.12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – INITIAL RECOGNITION  

AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset 

of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another 

entity.

I) FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables. All financial 

assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial 

assets not recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 

within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the mar-

ket place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 

date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement financial assets are classi-

fied in following two categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

• Loans and receivables

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include derivatives 

that are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
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effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39. Financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of 

financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value presented 

as finance costs (negative net changes in fair value) or finance income 

(positive net changes in fair value) in the statement of profit or loss. 

The accounting treatment of financial derivatives qualified as hedges 

according IAS 39 is described in chapter 2.3.14.

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. This 

category includes loan and other receivables and trade receivables. 

Trade receivables are recorded on the balance sheet at their nominal 

value. Trade receivables also include invoiced sales revenue based on 

estimates.

Caruna Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is 

objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 

is impaired. Impairment is recorded on trade receivables when there 

is evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 

according to the original terms of the agreements. Such evidence of 

impairment may include significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 

probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or financial 

reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments. The impairment 

amount is measured as the difference between the asset’s original 

balance sheet value and estimated future cash flows. The losses arising 

from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 

other operating expenses. By definition, trade receivables are consid-

ered fully impaired when they are more than 180 days overdue.

De-recognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part 

of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised (when the rights 

to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

I)  IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses 

whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 

individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are 

not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 

evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 

asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
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financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 

assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed 

for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, 

recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses 

that have not yet been incurred).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the loss is recognised 

in statement of profit or loss. Loan receivables are written off when 

there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has 

been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent 

year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or 

decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 

recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or 

reduced by adjusting the carrying amount of the asset. If a write-off is 

later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in the state-

ment of profit or loss.

II) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabili-

ties at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the 

case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable 

transaction costs.

Caruna Group’s financial liabilities include loans and borrowings, trade 

and other payables and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, 

as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include derivatives 

that are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 

effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39. Gains or losses 

on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit 
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or loss. The accounting treatment of financial derivatives qualified as 

hedges according IAS 39 is described in chapter 2.3.14

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, 

interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised 

in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through 

the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or pre-

mium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 

EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement 

of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrow-

ings. For more information refer Note 16.

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability 

is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial liability 

is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 

such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of 

the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference 

in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss.

III) OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The Group does not offset financial assets and financial liabilities.

2.3.13 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as currency 

swaps, interest rate swaps and electricity hedges against grid losses, 

to hedge its interest rate risks and commodity price risks, respectively. 

Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair 

value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 

financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities 

when the fair value is negative.
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Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives 

are taken directly to profit or loss, except for the effective portion of 

cash flow hedges, which is recognised in OCI and later reclassified to 

profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as cash flow 

hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is 

attributable to interest rate risk associated with a recognised liability 

and electricity price risk associated with purchase of electricity to 

cover grid losses.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates 

and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to 

apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy 

for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of 

the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being 

hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes 

in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to 

changes in the hedged item’s cash flows attributable to the hedged 

risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving off-

setting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to 

determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the 

financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are account-

ed for, as described below:

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 

recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective 

portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss as 

other operating expenses. Amounts recognised as OCI are transferred 

to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, 

such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recog-

nised.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised 

without replacement or rollover (as part of the hedging strategy), or 

if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer 

meets the criteria for hedge accounting, hedge accounting is discontin-

ued prospectively.

When hedge accounting is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss 

previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or 

loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods 
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during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss. If the 

hedged item does no longer exist (i.e. the loan is repaid prematurely) 

any related cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has 

been recognised in other comprehensive income from the period when 

the hedge was effective is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 

reclassification adjustment.

The Group uses interest rate swaps as hedges of its exposure to 

interest rate risk arising from debt carrying variable interest rate. In 

February 2016 the group refinanced its loan agreements, which were 

formed when Caruna was acquired. Therefore the cumulative loss from 

interest rate swaps in hedge accounting has immediately recognised in 

the profit and loss statement. Refer to Note 16 for more details.

2.3.14 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Caruna Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an in-

dication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when 

annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates 

the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 

higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined 

for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 

that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 

assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its re-

coverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 

to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discount-

ed to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 

recent market transactions are taken into account.

Caruna Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets 

and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for each of 

Caruna Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These 

budgets and forecast calculations cover a period of thirty years in 

order to take into account the long term capital expenditure plans which 

are driven by the security of supply requirements by 2028, set by the 

Ministry of Employment and Economy.

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is an indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If 

such indication exists, Caruna Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s re-

coverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 

the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the 

asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such re-

versal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset 

is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated 

as a revaluation increase.

The following assets have specific characteristics for impairment 

testing:

Goodwill 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired as 

described earlier in section 2.3.1 .

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of each 

CGU to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the 

CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future 

periods.

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impair-

ment annually as at December 31 at the CGU level, as appropriate, and 

when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

2.3.15 CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position 

comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with a 

maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and 

cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined 

above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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2.3.16 CASH DIVIDEND TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 

The Company recognises a liability to make cash or non-cash distribu-

tions to equity holders of the parent when the distribution is authorised 

and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. As 

per the corporate laws in Finland, a distribution is authorised when it is 

approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognised 

directly in equity.

2.3.17 PROVISIONS

General 

Provisions are recognised when Caruna Group has a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 

of the obligation. When Caruna Group expects some or all of a provision 

to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the 

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the re-

imbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is 

presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

Restructuring provisions 

Restructuring provisions are recognised only when the recognition 

criteria for provisions are fulfilled. Caruna Group has a constructive 

obligation when a detailed formal plan identifies the business or part of 

the business concerned, the location and number of employees affected, 

a detailed estimate of the associated costs, and an appropriate timeline. 

Furthermore, the employees affected have been notified of the plan’s 

main features. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes 

only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are 

those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring 

and not associated with the ongoing activities of the Caruna Group.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are dis-

counted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, 

the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase 

in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance 

cost.

2.3.18 PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

Caruna Group companies have pension schemes in accordance with the 

local conditions and practices in Finland. The schemes are generally 

funded through payments to insurance companies. The group has both 

defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
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All employees are eligible to statutory earnings-related pension under 

the TyEL (The employee’s Pensions Act). The company has arranged its 

TyEL cover with Varma Pension Insurance Company. The TyEL plan, as 

arranged via a pension insurance company, is treated as an insured plan 

and as a defined contributions plan according to IAS 19. The employer 

pays annually premiums to the pension insurance company and after 

that the employer carry no risk for the benefits or the depreciation of 

the insurance premiums invested by the insurance company.

Caruna Group has arranged voluntary pension cover for a limited 

number of persons and all these plans are closed. The cost of providing 

benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the project-

ed unit credit method.

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect 

of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the 

net defined benefit liability and the return on plan assets (excluding 

amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), 

are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with 

a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the 

period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to 

profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

• The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and

• The date that Caruna Group recognises related restructuring 

costs

 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net 

defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following 

changes in the net defined benefit obligation in consolidated statement 

of profit or loss:

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service 

costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine 

settlements 

• Net interest expense or income

 

2.4 NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS  

NOT YET ADOPTED

Caruna Group has not applied the following new and revised standards and 

interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective:
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IFRS 9 Financial instruments issued in July 2014 (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The standard has new requirements 

for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities 

and hedge accounting and it will replace IAS 39. Caruna Group will apply the 

new standard from beginning of 2018. The standard is endorsed by EU in 

November 2016.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with Customers issued in May 2014 (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The standard focus-

es on revenue recognition models and will replace IAS 11 and IAS 18. Caruna 

Group will apply the new standard from beginning of 2018. The Standard is not 

expected to have significant changes in current revenue recognition principles 

in the Group. The standard is endorsed by EU in September 2016

IFRS 16 Leases issued in January 2016 (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1.1.2019). The standard requires lessees to recognize a lease lia-

bil¬ity reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use’ asset for virtually 

all lease contracts. The group is in process of assessing the impacts of the 

new standard, Caruna Group will apply the new standard from the beginning of 

2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of new standard.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle issued in September 2014 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The 

improvements primarily remove inconsistencies and clarify wording of 

standards. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. 

Amendments are not expected to have an impact on Caruna Group’s 

consolidated financial statements. The improvements are still subject to 

endorsement by EU. There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations already 

published, but not yet effective, that would be expected to have a material 

impact on the Group’s financial statements.

3. Significant accounting 
judgements, estimates  
and assumptions
The preparation of Caruna Group’s consolidated financial statements requires 

management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 

the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities existing at the balance sheet date as well as the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates are based 

on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to 
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be reasonable. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 

result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 

of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. Management believes that 

the accounting policies below represent those matters requiring the exercise 

of judgment where a different opinion could result in the greatest changes to 

reported results.

3.1 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs 

of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation 

is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s 

length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs 

for disposing of the asset. Caruna Group bases its impairment calculation on 

detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately 

for each of Caruna Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. 

Budgets for the next three years are approved by the Board of Directors. 

These budgets and forecast calculations cover a period of thirty years in 

order to take into account the long term capital expenditure plans which are 

driven by the security of supply requirements by 2028, set by the Ministry of 

Employment and Economy. The Board of Directors approve the impairment 

calculations. The applied discount rate of 7,04% has been derived directly 

from the regulatory pre-tax WACC.

The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the differ-

ent CGUs, including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further explained 

in Note 14.

3.2 DEFERRED TAXES

Caruna Group has deferred tax assets and liabilities which are expected to be 

realised through the statement of profit or loss over certain periods of time in 

the future. The calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities involves mak-

ing certain assumptions and estimates regarding the future tax consequences 

attributable to differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-

ities as recorded in the financial statements and their tax basis. Assumptions 

made include the expectation that future operating performance for Caruna 

Group entities will be consistent with historical levels of operating results, 

recoverability periods of tax losses carry-forwards will not change, and that 

existing tax laws and rates will remain unchanged into foreseeable future.
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3.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Transmission Finance Designated Activity Company (“DAC”), a limited liability 

company incorporated in Ireland, is a special purpose vehicle established for 

the purpose of raising funds by issuance of bonds and other debt instruments, 

as applicable, and to safeguard the collective interests of debtors. Caruna 

Group management sees it has no power or control over the company and it is 

not consolidated to Caruna Group. 

2. Capital management
As the electricity distribution is capital-intensive, the company must ensure 

it has adequate capital to meet its operating requirements. Business planning 

includes assessing the adequacy of available capital in relation to the risks 

arising from business operations and the operating environment. 

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued 

capital, invested distributable equity fund, all other equity reserves attributa-

ble to the equity holders of the parent and the shareholder loan.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise the 

shareholder value. In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capi-

tal management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial 

covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define 

capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants 

would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have 

been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and 

borrowing in the current or previous financial period.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of 

changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the financial cove-

nants. It is possible for the companies to strengthen the equity when

necessary.
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3. Group information
THE PARENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the following sub-

sidiaries, in addition to the parent company Caruna Networks Oy:

Name
Principal  

activity
Country of incorporation 

and operation
% equity  

interest 2016

Caruna Networks 
Sähkönsiirto Oy

Management and 
other services Finland 100

Caruna Networks  
Espoo Oy

Management and 
other services Finland 100

Caruna Oy
Electricity 

distribution Finland 100

Caruna Espoo Oy
Electricity 

distribution Finland 100
 

 

The ultimate parent of Caruna Group is Suomi Power Networks Topco BV, 

incorporated in the Netherlands.
 

Transmission Finance Designated Activity Company 

Non-consolidated structured company Transmission Finance Designated 

Activity Company (“DAC”), a limited liability company incorporated in Ireland, 

is a special purpose vehicle established for the purpose of raising funds by 

issuance of bonds and other debt instruments, as applicable, and to safeguard 

the collective interests of the debtors. In 2016, DAC issued several tranches 

of bonds, the proceeds from which it has lent to Caruna Group based on a loan 

agreement (IBLA) between the two parties. 

DAC shares are held on trust for charitable purposes by Maples Fiduciary 

Services Trustees Ireland Limited (“Maples”), an Irish limited liability company. 

Maples appoints the directors and is responsible for managing DAC. Maples 

and the directors and management members of DAC are independent from 

Caruna Group. Caruna Group has no legal, contract-based or other de facto 

rights to direct the operations of DAC that would result in Caruna Group exer-

cising control over DAC. Therefore, DAC is not consolidated to Caruna Group.

Transactions between Caruna Group and DAC (1000 eur) 

At 31 December 2016, Caruna Group had the following outstanding liabilities 

to DAC:

IBLA-loans (EUR) Accrued interest

1 936 151 17,990
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The carrying amounts of loans from DAC are presented in long-term interest 

bearing liabilities, while the accrued interest is presented in current liabilitie 

in other payables.  

For the corresponding debt instruments issued by DAC, Caruna Group has 

guaranteed the payment of principal and interest to DAC’s bondholders in the 

event of DAC’s default. At year-end, Caruna Group had no other material risk 

exposures related to DAC, and the amounts presented above represent its 

maximum risk exposure.

The interest rates of all loans are fixed and are determined by the fixed inter-

est rates of the corresponding bonds issued by DAC, increased by margin of 

0.0025 %. For further information on interest-bearing liabilities, see Note 16.

In 2016, the interest expenses to DAC by Caruna Group amounted to EUR 

37,433 ( 2015: -) thousand. Interest expenses have been recorded in the 

income statement. In addition, during 2016 Caruna Group paid upfront fees of 

EUR 2,200 thousand (2015: no fees paid) to DAC. The fees have been capital-

ised and will be amortised according to effective interest method during the 

average life time of IBLA loans.

Had Transmission Finance DAC been consolidated into Caruna Group, the 

issuer of the loans would remain and the Group would have separate notes to 

several financial institutions instead of the one lender (DAC). If consolidated, 

the amount of the liabilities would be the same but the interest expenses 

would be lower at the amount of the loan margin (50 thousand euros/year).

4. Business combinations 
ACQUISITIONS IN 2016

There were no aquisitions during 2016.

ACQUISITIONS IN 2015

In August Caruna Oy acquired Lapin Sähköverkko Oy’s shares and all networks 

operated by the business of Kemijoki Oy. The acquired high voltage network 

extended Caruna’s electricity distribution network in Lapland where Caruna 

already had network. Due to the acquisition approximately 150 km of high volt-

age network in Kemijärvi, Rovaniemi and Sodankylä areas were transferred to 

Caruna. The acquisition gives the Caruna Group the right to practise electrici-

ty distribution business by using its regional networks and to be, by definition 

in the Electricity Market Act, a local regional network operator within its own 

area of responsibility in Northern Finland.
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Assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired compa-

nies as at the date of acquisition were: 

 

 

EUR 1,000

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 103

Intangible assets 1,112

Property, plant and equipment -

Trade receivables 171

Other current assets 97

1,483

LIABILITIES

Trade payables -119

Deferred tax liabilties -222

Connection Fee liabilities -

Other non-interest bearing liabilities -39

Interest-bearing liabilities -

-380

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,103

Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 13.) -

Purchase consideration transferrred 1,103

Gross investment in Lapin Sähköverkko Oy

Purchase consideration settled in cash 1,103

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired -103

Cash outflow on acquisition 1,000

Interest-bearing debt in subsidiaries acquired -

Total 1,000

Lapin Sähköverkko Oy’s net sales for 4 months EUR 887 thousand, and loss 

for the period EUR -1,326 thousand are included in the Group consolidated 

statements of profit and loss for the year 2015.

Mergers 2015 

Lapin Sähköverkko Oy merged with Caruna Oy at 30 December 2015. the 

assets and liabilities of Lapin Sähköverkko Oy were transfered to the balance 

sheet of Caruna Oy.
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5. Other operating income

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 263 28

Rental Income 1,086 1,048

Customer based services and relocation of 
connections 2,778 4,632

Electricity derivatives with hedge accounting 
status unrealised 3,153 1,763

Electricity derivatives without hedge accounting 
status unrealised -165 237

Profits from business transactions - 1,109

Other 511 367

Other operating income total 7,626 9,184

 

Revenue from activities outside normal operations is reported in other oper-

ating income. This includes recurring items such as relocation of connections, 

power cuts and re-connections, cable guidance and rental income as well as 

nonrecurring items such as proceeds from sale of property, plant and equip-

ment, unrealised gains and losses of electricity derivatives.
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6. Other operating expenses

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Repairs and maintenance 19,466 34,229

External services 26,665 30,237

Acquisition related costs - 99

Other 9,539 5,196

Total other operating expenses 55,669 69,761

Other operating expenses include repairs and maintenance costs of network, 

consulting and IT fees, external service fees, communication costs and rental 

expenses. 

External service fees include customer service fees, invoicing fees, consulting 

fees, IT service fees and automatic meter reading service fees.

 

Auditor’s fees 
EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Audit fees 302 239

Tax advisory 33 41

Other services 244 -

Total auditor’s fees 579 280

Deloitte and Touche Oy was appointed as auditor for the 2016 reporting 

period. 

Audit fees include fees for auditing the consolidated financial statements 

and for auditing the parent company and subsidiaries. Fees for tax services 

include fees for professional tax services and other services include other 

assignments.
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7. Finance income

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Interest income 205 220

Exhange rate differences 35 3

Interest income from interest derivatives,  
non-hedged 4,023 -

Total finance income 4,263 223

8. Finance costs

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Interest on debts and borrowings 122,167 114,722

Interest expenses on interest rate derivatives, 
non-hedged 12,692 44,763

Total interest expense 134,859 159,485

Arrangement and commitment fees relating to 
interest-bearing loans 1,886 5,525

Other financing expenses 40,466 5,011

Total finance costs 177,211 170,021

 

Interest expenses consist of interest on shareholder loan EUR 81,135 

(88,747) thousand, interest related to IBLA-loans of EUR 37,433 (-) thousand, 

interest related to other Senior-loans of EUR 2,164 (15,196) thousand, inter-

est related to Junior-loans of EUR 871 (8,959) thousand as well as interest 

related to capex-facility and revolving credit facility of EUR 415 (1,819) thou-

sand. The other interest expenses were EUR 148 (1) thousand.

The interest expenses on interest rate derivatives were EUR 12,692 (44,763) 

thousand. Caruna refinanced its loan portfolio in February 2016. This is the 

reason why cumulative loss of the interest rate swaps in hedge accounting 

has been recognised from interest hedging fund to consolidated statement 

of profit & loss already at Dec 31, 2015 and therefore explains the significant 

decrease of expenses compared to previous financial period. 
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The Group refinanced its loans in spring 2016. The purpose of refinancing was 

to guarantee the conditions for the Group’s operations in the long term and to 

secure financing for the network improvement programme. Refinancing was 

carried out in three stages to allow the Group to arrange diversified funding 

from several capital markets. The total of the first refinancing stage in 

February came up to EUR 1,930 million, of which EUR 825 million consisted of 

bank loans from a group of 12 banks. The banks also granted Caruna a capex 

facility of EUR 600 million and a revolving credit facility of EUR 60 million.

In addition to the bank loans, Caruna Networks Oy borrowed EUR 1,105 million 

from Transmission Finance DAC, a company that issues bonds and loans to 

institutional investors, as part of a 10-billion euro bond programme. The 

loans granted by Transmission Finance DAC mature in 10 to 30 years. At the 

same time, Caruna Networks Oy paid off its junior loan of EUR 150 million and 

reduced its shareholder loan by EUR 149 million.

At the beginning of May, the Group partially refinanced its bank loan taken out 

in February. In total, refinancing operations amounted to EUR 326 million. The 

Transmission Finance DAC loans taken out mature in 10 to 20 years.

The Group refinanced its remaining bank loans at the end of May. In total, 

refinancing operations amounted to EUR 500 million. The Transmission Finance 

DAC loan taken out matures in seven years.

In December 2016, Caruna Networks Oy signed a loan agreement of EUR 200 

million with the European Investment Bank. The loan period is 10 years and the 

final interest rate will be determined at the time the loan is taken out. No loan 

was taken out during 2016.

The company’s loans include covenants. The breakage of covenants may lead 

to increased cost of financing or withdrawal of the loan. The company has 

fulfilled the covenants and these are continously monitored.
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9. Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment charges 

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Intangible rights 1,174 2,140

Other intangible assets 8,975 7,587

Buildings and constructions 1,775 1,299

Machinery and equipment 101,001 93,670

Other tangible assets - 10

Total depreciation 112,926 104,706

10. Personnel expenses

 

EUR 1,000 Note 2016 2015

Wages and salaries 17,757 19,462

Pension costs

Defined contribution plans 22 2,958 3,333

Defined benefit plans 22 107 330

Social security costs 984 875

Total personnel expenses 21,806 24,001

The total wages and salaries paid by Caruna Group to its employees consist of 

salaries, fringe benefit and short-term incentives. The employee may choose 

to place either all or part of the annual bonus in the 2015 established wage 

fund.

In its meeting 24 March 2015 The Caruna Board of Directors approved a Long-

Term incentive program (LTI-program) for the years 2015-2017. Annually a 

group of employees are accepted by the Board into the program. Also the 

CEO can participate in the program. The incentive is in euros and to achieve 

it the Board annually sets parametres that are the same for all participants. 

The incentive progam is by its nature funded in the way that a third of the 

cumulatively earned incentives are paid the following year for the earnings 

period and two thirds are left in the accumulated earned incentives. Mainly 

the participant looses the accumulated incentives if the employee resigns. If 

the employment is terminated by Caruna due to other than personal grounds, 
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the employee receives the accummulated amount of the incentive at the end of 

the employment. There is a detailed guide regarding the LTI program. In 2016 no 

incentives were paid from the LTI program. 

Information regarding management employee benefits are presented in note 26 

Related party transactions.

11. Income tax
The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 December are: 

 

Income tax recognised in the statement of profit or loss (EUR 1,000) 2016 2015

Current income tax: 

In respect of the current year -456 -16

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 22,381 3,813

Total income tax expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss (tax 
expense -/tax income +) 21,925 3,797

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year:

Fair value remeasurement of hedging instruments entered into cash flow hedges 257 -6,123

Remeasurments of post employment benefit liabilities 5 -21

Income tax charged to other comprehensive income (tax expense -/tax income +) 262 -6,144

 

 

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Finland’s 
domestic tax rate for (EUR 1,000) 2016 2015

Loss before tax -53,556 -144,190

Tax calculated at nominal Finnish tax rate 20% 10,711 28,838

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes -971 -17,526

Tax losses for which no deferred tax was recognised - -7,515

Utilisation of tax losses carried forward 12,185 -

21,925 3,797

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss 21,925 3,797

 

Income taxes are tax expenses in the statement of profit or loss during the fi-

nancial period and the comparison year. The changes in deferred taxes recorded 

in the statement of profit or loss are tax income both during the financial period 

and the comparison year.
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DEFERRED TAXES 

 

(EUR 1,000)  
Deferred tax receivables

Balance 
sheet  

31 Dec 2015
Business 

combinations

Recognised  
in income  

statement

Recognised in 
other components 
of comprehensive 

income
Balance sheet 

31 Dec 2016

Provisions -803 - -31 - -834

Derivative financial instruments 848 - - - 848

Expensed acquisition related 
cost 73 - - - 73

Defined benefit plans -14 - - - -14

Total deferred tax receivables 104 - -31 - 73

(EUR 1,000)  
Deferred tax liabilities

Balance 
sheet  

31 Dec 2015
Business 

combinations

Recognised  
in income  

statement

Recognised in 
other components 
of comprehensive 

income
Balance sheet 

31 Dec 2016

Derivative financial instruments -1,045 - 597 -299 -747

Depreciation difference 114,454 - -12,696 - 101,758

Measurement of assets at fair 
value in acquisition 444,892 - -6,250 - 438,642

Other 4,137 - -4,063 37 111

Total deferred tax liabilities 562,438 - -22,412 -262 539,764

 
(EUR 1,000)  
Deferred tax receivables

Balance 
sheet  

31 Dec 2014
Business 

combinations

Recognised  
in income  

statement

Recognised in 
other components 
of comprehensive 

income
Balance sheet 

31 Dec 2015

Provisions -542 - -261 - -803

Derivative financial instruments 848 - - - 848

Expensed acquisition related 
cost 9,313 - -9,240 - 73

Defined benefit plans -14 - - - -14

Total deferred tax receivables 9,605 - -9,501 - 104

(EUR 1,000)  
Deferred tax liabilities

Balance 
sheet  

31 Dec 2014
Business 

combinations

Recognised  
in income  

statement

Recognised in 
other components 
of comprehensive 

income
Balance sheet 

31 Dec 2015

Derivative financial instruments -7,115 - -53 6,123 -1,045

Depreciation difference 125,522 - -11,068 - 114,454

Measurement of assets at fair 
value in acquisition 450,921 222 -6,251 - 444,892

Other 57 - 4,059 21 4,137

Total deferred tax liabilities 569,385 222 -13,313 6,144 562,438
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities 

and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of such losses 

arisen from subsidiaries that are loss-making and there are no other ways 

to even out taxes or other evidence of recoverability in the near future. The 

Group has not booked deferred tax assets of EUR 78,640 thousand from tax 

losses carried forward from the years 2013 to 2015.

The tax losses carried forward are available for ten years and will be offset 

against future taxable profits.

12. Property, plant and equipment

 EUR 1,000
Land and 

water areas
Buildings and 

constructions
Machinery and 

equipments

Other  
tangible 

assets

Advance 
payments and 

construction in 
progress Total

Acquisition cost  
At 1 January 2016 7,160 28,902 1,801,785 - 113,872 1,951,719

Additions 21 121 226,836 - 448,292 675,271

Transfers between 
items - - 2,005 - -404,323 -402,318

Disposals -95 -507 -8,041 - - -8,642

Acquisition cost  
31 December 2016 7,086 28,517 2,022,585 - 157,841 2,216,030

Depreciation  
and impairment  
At 1 January 2016 - 1,419 42,778 - - 44,197

Depreciation charge 
for the year - 1,775 101,001 - - 102,777

Transfers between 
items - - 2,005 - - 2,005

Depreciation charge 
on disposals - -426 -7,937 - - -8,363

Accumulated 
depreciation  
31 December 2016 - 2,768 137,849 - - 140,616

Net book value

At 31 December 2016 7,086 25,749 1,884,737 - 157,841 2,075,414

At 31 December 2015 7,160 27,483 1,759,007 - 113,872 1,907,522
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 EUR 1,000

Land and 
water 
areas

Buildings and 
construc-

tions

Machinery 
and equip-

ments

Other  
tangible 

assets

Advance 
payments and 

construction in 
progress Total

Acquisition cost  
At 1 January 2015 5,463 14,084 1,789,995 11 63,856 1,873,409

Business 
combinations  
(Note 4) 45 15 12,940 - - 13,000

Additions 1,723 15,417 111,420 - 178,192 306,752

Transfers between 
items - - - - -128,176 -128,176

Disposals -71 -613 -112,571 -11 - -113,266

Acquisition cost  
31 December 2015 7,160 28,902 1,801,785 - 113,872 1,951,719

Depreciation 
and impairment 
At 1 January 2015 - 733 59,605 1 - 60,339

Depreciation 
charge for the year - 1,299 93,670 10 - 94,979

Depreciation 
charge on 
disposals - -613 -110,497 -11 - -111,121

Accumulated 
depreciation  
31 December 2015 - 1,419 42,778 - - 44,197

Net book value

At 31 December 
2015 7,160 27,483 1,759,007 - 113,872 1,907,522

At 31 December 
2014 5,463 13,351 1,730,390 10 63,856 1,813,070
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13. Intangible assets

 

 

 

EUR 1,000 Goodwill
Intangible 

rights
Other intangible 

assets Total

Acquisition cost

At 1 January 2016 62,468 3,977 1,571,289 1,637,734

Additions - 3 12,442 12,445

Disposals - - -546 -546

Acquisition cost 31 December 2016 62,468 3,980 1,583,185 1,649,633

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2016 - 1,272 -2,504 -1,232

Depreciation for the period - 1,174 8,975 10,149

Depreciation charge on disposals - - -546 -546

Accumulated depreciation  
31 December 2016 - 2,446 5,925 8,371

Net book value

At 31 December 2016 62,468 1,534 1,577,260 1,641,262

At 31 December 2015 62,468 2,705 1,573,793 1,638,966

 

 

 

 

 

The network licenses give permission to the company to distribute electricity 

on the network area for the time being. The network licenses have infinite 

lifetime and they are not depreciated.

 

EUR 1,000 Goodwill
Intangible 

rights
Other intangible 

assets Total

Acquisition cost

At 1 January 2015 62,468 4,869 1,572,347 1,639,684

Business combination (Note 4) - - 1,112 1,112

Additions - - 15,000 15,000

Disposals - -892 -17,171 -18,062

Acquisition cost 31 December 2015 62,468 3,977 1,571,289 1,637,734

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2015 - 881 4,173 5,054

Depreciation for the period - 2,140 7,587 9,727

Depreciation charge on disposals - -1,749 -14,264 -16,013

Accumulated depreciation  
31 December 2015 - 1,272 -2,504 -1,232

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 62,468 2,705 1,573,793 1,638,966

At 31 December 2014 62,468 3,988 1,568,174 1,634,630
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As a result of acquisitions in 2015 an EUR 1 112 thousand increase was made 

to network licenses included in intangible assets. The networks licenses give 

permission to the company to distribute electricity on the network area for 

the time being. The network licenses have infinite lifetime and they are not 

depreciated.

14. Impairment testing of goodwill 
and network license
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the two 

Cash Generating Units (CGU) below for impairment testing purposes:

• Caruna Oy

• Caruna Espoo Oy

Carrying amount of goodwill and network licenses allocated to each of the CGUs 

in 2016:

 

EUR 1,000 Caruna Oy Caruna Espoo Oy Total

Goodwill 53,567 8,901 62,468

Network licenses 1,332,112 197,100 1,529,212

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations 

Impairment test is based on value in use which has been estimated to be higher 

than net selling price. Value in use has been estimated based on cash flow pro-

jections for 2017-2045. Of these, cash flows for 2017-2019 are based on the 

3 year business plan which has been approved by the Board of Directors. Cash 

flow projections for 2020-2045 have been prepared by the management and 

they are based on the allowed regulated revenue which has been modelled for 

each CGU based on the best knowledge of the regulatory rules and their future 

development. Applied long term capital expenditure has been prepared taking 

into account the security of supply requirements by 2028 set by the Ministry of 

Employment and Economy. A longer calculation period than the 5 years set by 

IAS 36 has been applied in order to take into account the effect of the security 

of supply requirements on the allowed regulated revenues.

An annual growth rate of 2% has been applied for operating expenditure for 

2020-2045. The terminal value cash flow is expected to grow by 2% annually. 

Net sales is based on the modelled allowed regulated revenue and its growth 

rate varies from year to year with the assumption that no regulatory surplus or 

deficit is generated from 2024 onwards.
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Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific 

to the business, taking into consideration the time value of money and individ-

ual risks of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash 

flow estimates. The applied discount rate of 7,04% has been derived directly 

from the regulatory pre-tax WACC.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

The headroom turned negative when the sensitivity of the value was tested 

by decreasing EBITDA by 10% and increasing the discount rate by 10%. The 

breakeven point for the EBITDA sensitivity amounts to -7,6% for Caruna Oy 

and -0,7% for Caruna Espoo Oy. The breakeven point for the discount rate 

sensitivity amounts to +9,1% in Caruna Oy and +1,1% in Caruna Espoo Oy. 

Due to the stability of the regulated business, the management believes that 

changes in the business enviroment causing the carrying amount to materially 

exceed the recoverable amount are very unlikely.

15. Other non-current assets

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Other investments at 1 January 50 50

Decreases -1 -

Other investments at 31 December 49 50

Other investments include other shares owned less than 10%. The shares are 

shown at historical cost since no fair values are available. The shares are re-

lated to storage facilities kept for Caruna Group’s own purposes for example 

for transformators etc.
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16. Financial assets and liabilities

 

Financial assets (EUR 1,000) 2016 2015

Non-current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Electricity derivatives, hedged 443 1,223

Electricity derivatives, non-hedged 295 2

Financial assets at amortised cost

Prepaid interests expenses 424 -

Current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Electricity derivatives, hedged 585 2,461

Electricity derivatives, non-hedged 658 -

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables 116,499 91,167

Total financial assets 118,905 94,853

 

Financial instruments through profit or loss reflect positive change in fair 

value of those electricity derivatives that are not designated in hedge relation-

ships.

Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets carried 

at amortised cost. The carrying value may be affected by changes in the credit 

risk of the counterparties.
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Financial liabilities (EUR 1,000) 2016 2015

Interest-bearing liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Loans 3,032,925 2,804,282

Trade payables and other liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI

Electricity derivatives 53 1,520

Financial instruments through profit or loss

Electricity derivatives 240 1,916

Interest derivatives 31,030 34,807

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Connection fee liabilities 304,957 305,229

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI

Electricity derivatives 262 2,426

Financial instruments through profit or loss

Electricity derivatives 403 3,260

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables 53,344 47,174

Total financial liabilities 3,423,213 3,200,614

 

 

Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI reflects the negative change in 

fair value of electricity derivatives, designated as cash flow hedges to hedge 

electricity price risk arising from purchase of grid losses. 

Financial liabilities through the statement of profit or loss reflect negative 

change in fair value of those interest rate swaps and electricity derivatives 

that are not designated in hedge relationships. The Group refinanced its loans 

at February 2016. Therefore the interest rate swaps are recognised at fair 

value through the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are non-derivative financial liabilities 

carried at amortised cost.
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Interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings (EUR 1,000) Interst rate % Maturity 2016 2015

Non-current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings

Shareholder loan 8.50% 2047 933,642 1,040,349

IBLA-loans

IBLA-loan 18y 2.74% 2034 75,000 -

IBLA-loan 20y 2.83% 2036 50,000 -

IBLA-loan 25y 2.97% 2041 35,000 -

IBLA-loan 27y 3.00% 2043 135,000 -

IBLA-loan 30y 3.03% 2046 220,000 -

IBLA-loan 15y 2.57% 2031 75,000 -

IBLA-loan 18y 2.74% 2034 75,000 -

IBLA-loan 15y 2.57% 2031 25,000 -

IBLA-loan 20y 2.83% 2036 40,000 -

IBLA-loan 22y 2.90% 2038 40,000 -

IBLA-loan 25y 2.97% 2041 40,000 -

IBLA-loan 15y 2.57% 2031 78,000 -

IBLA-loan 15y 2.57% 2031 82,000 -

IBLA-loan 10y 2.04% 2026 10,000 -

IBLA-loan 25y 2.97% 2041 50,000 -

IBLA-loan 15y 2.57% 2031 75,000 -

IBLA-loan 10y 1.69% 2026 60,000 -

IBLA-loan 10y 3.18% 2026 71,151 -

IBLA-loan 13y 1.93% 2029 75,000 -

IBLA-loan 20y 2.42% 2036 125,000 -

IBLA-loan 7y 1.50% 2023 500,000 -

Senior loan facility 0.67% - 1,350,000

Junior loan facility 5.36% - 150,000

Capex loan facility 0.79% - 282,000

New Capex loan 0.55% 170,000 -

Accrued loan arrangement fees -6,868 -18,067

Total non-current interest-
bearing loans and borrowings 3,032,925 2,804,282

Total interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings 3,032,925 2,804,282

 

 

 

 

 

 

The owners First State (40%), Borealis (40%), Keva (12,5%) and Elo (7,5%) 

have given Shareholder loan to Suomi Power Networks TopCo B.V. and its sub-

sidiaries. In connection with the re-financing of the loans, Caruna Networks Oy 
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reduced its shareholder loan by EUR 149,820 thousand (no repayments made 

in 2015). Capitalised shareholder loan interest expenses were EUR 43,112 

(42,864) thousand.

The Group refinanced its loans on 4 February 2016. The purpose of refi-

nancing was to guarantee the conditions for the Group’s operations in the 

long term and to secure financing for the network improvement programme. 

Refinancing was carried out in three stages to allow the Group to arrange di-

versified funding from several capital markets. The total of the first refinanc-

ing stage in February came up to EUR 1,930 million, of which EUR 825 million 

consisted of bank loans from a group of 12 banks. The banks also granted 

Caruna a capex facility of EUR 600 million and a revolving credit facility of EUR 

60 million. 

In addition to the bank loans, Caruna Networks Oy borrowed EUR 1,105 million 

from Transmission Finance DAC, a company that issues bonds and loans to 

institutional investors, as part of a 10-billion euro bond programme. The 

loans granted by Transmission Finance DAC mature in 10 to 30 years. At the 

same time, Caruna Networks Oy paid off its junior loan of EUR 150 million and 

reduced its shareholder loan by EUR 149 million.

At the second phase of the refinancing on 4 May 2016, the Group partially 

refinanced its bank loan taken out in February. In total, refinancing operations 

amounted to EUR 326 million. The Transmission Finance DAC loans taken out 

mature in 10 to 20 years.

The third phase of the reginancing took place on 24 May 2016 when Caruna 

Networks Oy refinanced its remaining bank loans. In total, refinancing opera-

tions amounted to EUR 500 million. The loan taken from Transmission Finance 

DAC matures in seven years. In addition to existing securities, Caruna Group 

has pledged all its properties. 

The loan arrangement fees are accrued based on the effetive interest method 

on the average maturity of the IBLA-loans.

In December 2016, Caruna Networks Oy signed a loan agreement of EUR 200 

million with the European Investment Bank. The loan period is 10 years and the 

final interest rate will be determined at the time the loan is taken out. No loan 

was taken out during 2016.

Loan covenants 

Caruna Group’s loan covenants changed by the new loan arrangements in 

2016. The one of the loan covenants of the Senior-loans is the ratio between 

Group’s Funds from operations (after adding Senior Net finance charges) to 
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Senior Net finance charges (ICR). The other of the loan covenants is the ratio 

between Group’s Funds from operations to net debt excluding shareholder 

loan (Senior leverage).

ICR-loan covenant is tested with backward lock-up tests of the last 12 months 

and with forward lock-up tests of the following 12 months. The ratio can not 

be less than 1.70:1. The consolidated EBITDA included in the Funds from oper-

ations is adjusted based on the definitions set in the loan arrangments.

Senior Leverage Ratio is tested with backward lock-up tests of the last 12 

months, with forward lock-up tests of the following 12 months and with 

extended forward lock-up tests for the following 36 months. The ratio on the 

12 month backward and forward lock-up tests can not be less than 0.05:1. The 

ratio on the extended forward lock-up test can not be less than 0.055:1. The 

consolidated EBITDA included in the Funds from operations is adjusted based 

on the definitions set in the loan arrangments. The net senior finance charges 

are calculated on accrued basis.

Loan covenants are monitored on semi-annual basis. The breakage of the loan 

covenants may lead to premature withdrawal of Senior loans.
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17. Fair values of financial  
assets and financial liabilities

 

EUR 1,000 
 
At 31 Dec 2016 Note

Financial 
asset/liability 

at fair value 
through profit 

and loss
Loans and 

receivables
Loans and 

borrowings

Hedge 
accounted 

derivatives Book value Fair value

Fair  
value  

hierarchy

Non-current financial 
assets

Derivative financial 
instruments (electricity) 16 295 443 738 738 2

Prepaid interest 
expenses 16 424 424 424 2

Current financial assets

Derivative financial 
instruments (electricity) 16 658 585 1,243 1,243 2

Trade receivables 16 116,499 116,499 116,499 2

Cash and cash 
equivalents 20 59,790 59,790 59,790 1

Total financial assets 953 176,713 1,028 178,694 178,694

Non-current financial 
liabilities

Interest-bearing 
liabilities (floating rate) 16 170,000 170,000 170,000 2

Interest-bearing 
liabilities (fixed rate) 16 2,869,793 2,869,793 2,869,793 2

Accrued loan 
arrangement fee 16 -6,868 -6,868 -6,868 1

Derivative financial 
instruments (interest) 16 31,030 31,030 31,030 2

Derivative financial 
instruments (electricity) 16 240 53 293 293 2

Connection fee liabilities 16 304,957 304,957 304,957 3

Current financial 
liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments (electricity) 16 403 262 665 665 2

Trade payables 23 53,344 53,344 53,344 2

Total financial liabilities 31,673 3,391,226 315 3,423,214 3,423,214
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EUR 1,000  
 
At 31 Dec 2015 Note

Financial 
asset/liability 

at fair value 
through profit 

and loss
Loans and 

receivables
Loans and 

borrowings

Hedge 
accounted 

derivatives Book value Fair value
Fair value 
hierarchy

Non-current financial 
assets

Derivative financial 
instruments 
(electricity) 16 1,223 1 1,224 1,224 2

Current financial 
assets

Derivative financial 
instruments 
(electricity) 16 2,461 2,461 2,461 2

Trade receivables 16 91,167 91,167 91,167 2

Cash and cash 
equivalents 20 63,899 63,899 63,899 1

Total financial assets 3,684 155,066 1 158,751 158,751

Non-current financial 
liabilities

Interest-bearing 
liabilities (floating 
rate) 16 1,782,000 1,782,000 1,782,000 2

Interest-bearing 
liabilities (fixed rate) 16 1,040,349 1,040,349 1,040,349 2

Accrued loan 
arrangement fee 16 -18,067 -18,067 -18,067 1

Derivative financial 
instruments (interest) 16 34,807 34,807 34,807 2

Derivative financial 
instruments 
(electricity) 16 1,916 1,520 3,436 3,436 2

Connection fee 
liabilities 16 305,229 305,229 305,229 3

Current financial 
liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments 
(electricity) 16 3,260 2,426 5,686 5,686 2

Trade payables 23 47,174 47,174 47,174 2

Total financial 
liabilities 39,983 3,156,685 3,946 3,200,614 3,200,614

 

 

 

The management assesses that cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, 

trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities approximate 

their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 

instruments.
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The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount 

at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 

willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods 

and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

• The fair value of loans from banks and other financial liabilities, as well 

as other non-current financial liabilities is estimated by discounting 

future cash flows using rates currently available for debt on similar 

terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

• The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various 

counterparties, principally financial institutions with investment grade 

credit ratings. Derivatives valued using valuation techniques with 

market observable inputs are interest rate swaps. The most frequently 

applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, 

using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs 

inlcuding interest rate curves.

• Fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are 

determined by using DCF method using discount rate that reflects the 

issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own 

nonperformance risk as at 31 December 2016 was assessed to be 

insignificant. 

Fair value hierarchy disclosures for each class of financial instruments: 

Caruna has adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that 

are measured in the balance sheet at fair value. This requires disclosure of 

fair value measurements according to the fair value measurement hierarchy. 

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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18. Financial risk management 
objectives and policies
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: cash flow interest 

rate risk, credit risk, currency risk and liquidity risk. The objective of the 

Group’s risk management is to minimise the negative effects on the Group’s 

financial performance caused by changes in financial markets. The Group uses 

derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by Caruna’s Treasury. It identifies, evaluates 

and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating 

units according to the Treasury policy approved by the Board. The objective of 

treasury management is to secure sufficient funding for business operations, 

avoiding financial constraints at all times, to provide business units with 

financial services, to minimise the costs of financing, to manage financial risks 

(interest rate, liquidity, re-funding, credit and currency risks) and to provide 

the management with information on the financial position and risk exposures 

of Caruna and its business units. In addition, Caruna’s Treasury actively 

monitors the actual values of the Group’s financial covenants   and anticipated 

financial headroom in relation to maximum values   of these financial covenants 

as part of the Group’s reporting purposes.

 

MARKET RISK
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Electricity price risk 

Grid loss purchases are exposed to market price volatility. To manage this 

Caruna hedges the grid loss costs beforehand. The goal of hedging is to keep 

the grid loss costs stable and easy to forecast. Hedging also decreases the 

annual result volatility.

 

EUR 1,000  
Electricity derivatives 31 Dec 2016

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Net  
fair value

Electricity derivatives, 
 non-hedge accounting 953 -642 311

Electricity derivatives, cash flow hedges 1,028 -315 713

Total 1,981 -957 1,024

EUR 1,000  
Electricity derivatives 31 Dec 2015

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Net  
fair value

Electricity derivatives, non-hedge 
accounting 3,684 -5,177 -1,493

Electricity derivatives, cash flow hedges 1 -3,945 -3,944

Total 3,685 -9,122 -5,437

 

 

Interest rate risk 

Fluctuations in market interest rates have an effect on consolidated interest 

outflows and the fair value of interest-bearing receivables, loans payable and 

derivative instruments. The objective of interest rate risk management is to 

mitigate the impact of interest rate changes on the income statement, balance 

sheet and cash flow, while also taking into account the market value of net debt. 

 

 
EUR 1,000  
Interest rate derivatives 31 Dec 2016

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Net  
fair value

Interest rate derivatives, non-hedge 
accounting - -30,893 -30,893

Cross currency derivatives, cash flow 
hedges and fair value hedges - -137 -137

Total - -31,030 -31,030

EUR 1,000  
Interest rate derivatives 31 Dec 2015

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Net  
fair value

Interest rate derivatives,  
cash flow hedges *) - -34,807 -34,807

Total - -34,807 -34,807

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*) The Group refinanced its loans in February 2016. Therefore the market value of Interest rate derivatives have been 
booked from cash flow hedges to the profit and loss account already at 31 December 2015. 
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For interest rate sensitivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7, if interest 

rates at 31 December 2016 on EUR-denominated borrowings had been 1 % 

higher/lower with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the 

year would have been EUR 700 (26,600) thousand lower/higher, as a result of 

changes in the interest flows on floating rate borrowings and hedging instru-

ments and the change of market value of the non-hedge accounted interest 

rate swaps; other components of equity would have been EUR 0 (39,200) thou-

sand higher/lower, as a result of a change in the fair value of interest rate 

swaps for which hedge accounting is applied. The following table illustrates 

the sensitivity analysis.

 

Income statement Equity

31 Dec 2016, meur + 1% - 1% + 1% - 1%

Interest-bearing liabilities -0.7 0.7 - -

Interest rate derivatives

  Hedge accounted - - - -

  Non-hedge accounted - - - -

Total -0.7 0.7 0.0 0.0

Income statement Equity

31 Dec 2015, meur + 1% - 1% + 1% - 1%

Interest-bearing liabilities -12.6 12.6

Interest rate derivatives

  Hedge accounted

  Non-hedge accounted 39.2 -39.2 39.2 -39.2

Total 26.6 -26.6 39.2 -39.2  

 

 



Caruna Group    71Operating and financial review and financial statements 2016

Credit risk 

Counterparty risk arises if a customer, borrower or other counterparty fails 

to honor its payment obligations. When drawing up a supply or connection 

contract, collateral or advance payment can be set for the customers of Caruna 

companies, for the payment of outstanding claims based on the supply contract. 

Collaterals provide security against possible credit losses. There are also 

elements of counterparty risk involved, if substantial amount of loans, hedging 

contracts or other financial services are obtained from too few providers.

Caruna Finance is to manage the financial counterparty risks selecting carefully 

and distributing various transactions among adequate number of financial 

institutions and other counterparties.

Currency risk 

Changes in currency rates have impact on group’s net financing costs as well 

as interest bearing liabilities and the fair values of derivatives. The aim of 

hedging the currency risk exposure is to reduce the effect of changes in income 

statement, balance sheet and cash flow, while also taking into account the 

market value of the net debt position.

Liquidity and refinanging risk 

Caruna Finance manages the Group’s liquidity risk and ensures flexibility in 

funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines. The Group uses 

diverse funding sources and its borrowings are long-term. Caruna Networks 

Oy has unused committed borrowing facilities or other lines of credit that it can 

access to meet liquidity needs. At 31 December 2016 undrawn committed credit 

facilities were capex facility EUR 430,000 thousand, revolving credit facility EUR 

60,000 thousand, bank overdraft EUR 30,000 thousand, liquidity facility EUR 

20,000 thousand and unused bank loan of EUR 200,000 thousand. At the end of 

2015 the available unused committed capex-facility and revolving credit facility 

were EUR 218,000 thousand.

In order to decrease the refinancing risk Caruna aims to diversify the maturity 

structure of its interest-bearing debt and negotiates new committed credit 

lines well in advance of need. The table below summarises the maturity profile of 

the Caruna Networks Oy financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 

payments.
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EUR 1,000  
 
Year ended  
31 December 2016 On demand

Less than  
3 months

4 to 12  
months

1 to 5 
 years > 5 years Total

Interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings - - - 170,000 2,869,793 3,039,793

Accrued loan 
arrangement fee - - - 6,868 6,868

Connection fee 
liabilities - - - - 304,957 304,957

Interest derivatives - - - 31,030 - 31,030

Electricity derivatives - - 665 293 - 957

Trade payables - 53,344 - - - 53,344

Accrued interest 
expenses - 32,894 5,936 - - 38,830

Total 0 86,238 6,601 201,323 3,181,618 3,475,779

EUR 1,000 
 
Year ended  
31 December 2015 On demand

Less than  
3 months

4 to 12  
months

1 to 5  
years > 5 years Total

Interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings - - - 1,632,000 1,190,349 2,822,349

Accrued loan 
arrangement fee - - - -18,067 - -18,067

Connection fee 
liabilities - - - - 305,229 305,229

Interest derivatives - - - 34,807 - 34,807

Electricity derivatives - - 5,686 3,436 - 9,122

Trade payables - 47,174 - - - 47,174

Accrued interest 
expenses - - 24,734 - - 24,734

Total 0 47,174 30,420 1,652,176 1,495,578 3,225,348



Caruna Group    73Operating and financial review and financial statements 2016

19. Trade and other receivables

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Trade receivables 48,350 57,045

Accrued sales 68,149 34,122

Income tax receivables - 28

Accrued income and prepaid 
expenses 930 225

Other receivables 4 3

Total trade and other receivables 117,433 91,423

For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer Note 26. 

For trade receivables due more than 180 days a provision for credit losses is 

recoded. 

 

 

Aging analysis of trade receivables 

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Not past due 48,350 57,019

Past due 1-90 days - 26

Past due 91-180 days - -

Past due more than 181 days - -

Total 48,350 57,045

See Note 18 on credit risk of trade receivables, which explains how the Group 

manages and measures credit quality of trade receivables that are neither 

past due nor impaired.

Credit losses are booked based on the recommendation by credit agencies or 

based on the official documents in case of debt restructuring or bankruptcies 

of the debtor. Credit losses recorded in 2016 were EUR 475 thousand.
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20. Cash and cash equivalents 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Cash at banks and on hand 59,790 63,899

Total cash and cash equivalents 59,790 63,899  
 
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

At the end of the financial period 2016 the available committed facilities were: 

capex facilitys EUR 430,000 thousand, revolving credit facility EUR 60,000 

thousand, bank overdraft EUR 30,000 thousand, liquidity facility of EUR 20,000 

thousand and unused bank loan of EUR 200,000 thousand. At 31 December 

2015, the Group had available of undrawn committed Investment loan facilities 

and revolving credit facilities of EUR 218,000 thousand. 

The Group has pledged all of its short-term deposits to fulfil collateral 

requirements.

21. Provisions 

 

EUR 1,000 Restructuring provision Others Total

At 1 January 2016 280 247 527

Arising during the year 0 511 511

Utilised -280 -32 -312

At 31 December 2016 0 726 726

Non-current provisions 0 246 246

Current provisions 0 480 480

 

Other provisions relate mainly to compensations for ended employments.

 
 

EUR 1,000 Restructuring provision Others Total

At 1 January 2015 1,887 275 2,162

Arising during the year 61 21 82

Utilised -1,668 -49 -1,717

At 31 Decmber 2015 280 247 527

Non-current 226 21 247

Current 54 226 280

 Restructuring provisions relate to the restructuring of the business.
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22. Pension and other post- 
employment benefit plans
The Caruna Group companies have pension schemes in accordance with the 

local conditions and practices in Finland. The schemes are generally funded 

through payments to insurance companies or the Caruna Group’s pension 

fund as determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The group has both 

defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

All employees are eligible to statutory earnings-related pension under the 

TyEL (The employee’s Pensions Act). The company has arranged its TyEL 

cover with Varma Pension Insurance Company. TyEL- plan is interpreted as a 

defined contribution plan according to IAS 19. The employer pays annually the 

premiums to the pension insurance company and after that they carry no risk 

for the benefits or the depreciation of the insurance premiums invested by the 

insurance company.

The Caruna Group has arranged voluntary pension cover for a limited number 

of persons and all these plans are closed. The valuation is based on the re-

ports prepared by the external actuaries.

Statement of financial position (Items recognised in the balance sheet  

at 31 December)

 

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Defined benefit obligation 1,674 2,169

Fair value of plan assets -1,563 -2,103

Surplus (-)/deficit (+) 111 66

Net defined benefit liability (+)/asset (-) recognised in statement 
of financial position 111 66  

 

The reconciliation below shows the opening and closing balances of the 

defined benefit obligation

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Opening defined benefit obligation 2,169 1,724

Current service cost 42 99

Amendments - 645

Curtailments - -85

Interest expence 39 30

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) on obligation -141 -16

Settlements - -193

Benefits paid -435 -35

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the period 1,674 2,169
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The reconciliation below shows the opening and closing balances of the fair 

value of plan assets

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Opening fair value of plan assets 2,103 1,655

Interest income 38 29

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) on plan assets -166 91

Curtailments - -84

Amendments - 579

Settlements - -174

Benefits paid -435 -35

Contributions 23 42

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the period 1,563 2,103

Changes in net defined benefit liability during the period 

The following table shows how the net defined benefit liability recognised in 

the statement of financial position is changed during the year.

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Net defined benefit liability recognised in statement of financial position at 
beginning of period 66 69

Acquisitions - -

Expense recognised in profit or loss 43 146

Remeasurments recognised in other comprehensive income 25 -107

Contributions -23 -42

Total 111 66

 

 

Items recognised in profit or loss 

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Service cost 42 145

Net interest 1 1

Expences recognised in profit or loss 43 146
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Items recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the period

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) on defined benefit obligation arising 
from changes in demographic assumptions - 122

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) on defined benefit obligation arising 
from changes in financial assumptions 177 -112

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) on defined benefit obligation arising 
from experience adjustments -318 -26

Actuarial gains (-)/ losses (+) on plan assets 166 -91

Remeasurement in other comprehensive income 25 -107

 

The principal assumptions used in determining pension benefit obligations 

for the Group’s plan are shown below: 

The following tables show how the changes in assumptions used affect to the 

defined benefit obligation, related service cost and net interest. 

 

Reporting Period Ending 31 December 2016

 Items
Defined benefit 

obligation
Fair Value of 
Plan Assets Net Liability Service cost Net interest

Discount rate 1,50% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Discount rate +0,50% -7% -6% -14% -9% 13%

Discount rate -0,50% 8% 7% 16% 10% -22%

Benefit increase 1,90% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Benefit increase +0,50% 4% 0% 64% 6% 71%

Benefit increase -0,50% -4% 0% -59% -5% -66%

 

Reporting Period Ending 31 December 2015

 Items
Defined benefit 

obligation
Fair Value of 
Plan Assets Net Liability Service cost Net interest

Discount rate 1,80% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Discount rate +0,50% -7% -7% 8% -8% 43%

Discount rate -0,50% 8% 8% -12% 9% -41%

Benefit increase 1,80% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Benefit increase +0,50% 5% 0% 168% 5% 241%

Benefit increase -0,50% -5% 0% -155% -5% -223%



Caruna Group    78Operating and financial review and financial statements 2016

23. Trade and other  
current payables

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Trade payables

Accounts payables trade 30,446 27,865

Accrued trade payables 22,897 19,309

53,344 47,174

Other liabilties

Electricity tax liability 18,466 16,721

VAT liability 12,306 8,484

Other payables 2,088 522

32,860 25,727

Accrued expenses

Employee benefit expenses 6,810 5,020

Interest expenses 38,830 24,734

Income tax liability 395 64

Other accrued expenses 10,139 8,842

56,174 38,661

Total 142,378 111,562

 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14-day of 

30-day terms.

According to the Management’s estimate, the fair value of the trade and other 

payables does not materially differ from the balance sheet value.
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24. Commitments  
and contingencies

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Within one year 908 931

After one year but no more 
than five years 3,813 3,704

More than five years 1,001 973

Total 5,722 5,608

Capital Commitments

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Property, plant and equipment 326,162 256,091

Intangible assets - 2,876

Total 326,162 258,967

Contingent liabilities

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Loans, for which shares have 
been pledged and mortgages 
given

Loans from financial 
institutions 2,106,151 1,632,000

Floating charges 11,100,000 11,100,000

Real estate mortgages 25,440 -

Guarantees on behalf of 
Group companies 20,443 20,252

Operating lease commitments  

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating 
leases as at 31 December are, as follows:

 

Caruna companies have given guarantees and security for the obligations of 

each other as well as Caruna Networks B.V. and Suomi Power B.V. under the fi-

nance documents. This guarantee and security liability has expressly not been 

assumed by any Finnish Caruna company to the extent such assumption would 

constitute unlawful distribution of assets within the meaning of Chapter 13, 

Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act, unlawful financial assistance within 
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the meaning of Chapter 13, Section 10 of the Finnish Companies Act or be oth-

erwise in breach of any other applicable mandatory provisions of Finnish law.

The shares in companies belonging to Caruna Group, group internal loans 

receivables and group cashpool accounts have been pledged as security on 

behalf of group loans.

Group cashpool and other bank accounts, EUR 59,790 (63,899) thousand have 

been pledged as security for loans from financial institutions.

The company’s loans include covenants. The breakage of covenants may lead 

to increased cost of financing or withdrawal of the loan. The company has 

fulfilled the covenants and these are continously monitored.

Caruna Group has pledged it’s receivables based on the Share Purchase 

Agreement for the security of loans from financial institutions taken by other 

group companies. At the balance sheet date the value of the pledge was zero.

Caruna Group has pledged its receivables based on the Electricity Hedging 

Agreement. At the balance sheet date the amount was EUR 0.

Caruna Group has pledged its receivables based on financing agreenments for 

insurance contract. At the balance sheet date the amount was insignificant.
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25. Equity
Share capital 

Caruna Networks Oy’s issued share capital is EUR 2,500. The shares are fully 

paid. The company has 2 500 shares, with no nominal value, and of which 

each has an equal right to dividend and to the company’s assets. Each share 

entitles the holder to one vote at the Annual General Meeting.

Invested unrestricted equity fund 

Caruna Networks Oy’s invested unrestricted equity fund was EUR 171,204 

(171,204) thousand during the financial year.

Other funds

 

EUR 1,000 2016 2015

Cash flow hedge reserve -2,764 -1,736

Other comprehensive income 286 306

Total other funds -2,478 -1,430

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recog-

nised in the cash flow hedge reserve. 

Dividend distribution 

No dividends were paid in 2016. After the reporting period The Board of 

Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividends be 

paid for 2016, but rather that the profit EUR 18,291,366.77 (2015: losses 

-45,310,476.25) be added to retained earnings.
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26. Related party transactions
The Caruna Group related parties consists of its subsidiaries, The Board of 

Directors, The CEO and the Management team. Note 3 provides the information 

about the Group’s structure including the details of the subsidiaries and the 

holding company. 

Management

 EUR 1,000 2016

Board members 170

CEO 981

Management team 1,053

Total 2,204

Salaries and other short term employee benefits

The salaries and short term employee benefits for Board members, CEO 

and Management team in 2015 were EUR 1,482 thousand. CEO for Caruna-

companies Ari Koponen resigned on 17 October 2016. Thereafter the Group’s 

Chief Financial Officer, Jyrki Tammivuori took on the responsibilities of acting 

CEO. Remunerations have been paid to independent domestic Board members.

Salaries paid by the Caruna Group include also short-term incentives (STI). 

The employee has the option to transfer the whole amount or half amount of 

the STI to the Caruna bonus fund established in 2015.

In its meeting 24 March 2015 The Caruna Board of Directors approved a Long-

Term incentive program (LTI-program) for the years 2015-2017. Annually a 

group of employees are accepted by the Board into the program. Also the 

CEO can participate in the program. The incentive is in euros and to achieve 

it the Board annually sets parametres that are the same for all participants. 

The incentive progam is by its nature funded in the way that a third of the 

cumulatively earned incentives are paid the following year for the earnings 

period and two thirds are left in the accumulated earned incentives. Mainly the 

participant looses the accumulated incentives if the employee resigns. If the 

employment is terminated by Caruna due to other than personal grounds, the 

employee receives the accummulated amount of the incentive at the end of the 

employment. There is a detailed guide regarding the LTI program. In 2016 no 

incentives were paid from the LTI program.
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Retirement arrangements 

The CEO’s retirement age is based on the Finnish pension laws. 

Termination benefits 

If the employment contact with the CEO is terminated, the CEO is entitled to six 

months salary. A six month salary compensation has been recorded/booked 

for the resigned CEO Ari Koponen.

No loans have been granted to the Management during the current and previ-

ous period.

Business transactions 

All transactions with related parties take place in an arm’s length manner. 

Transactions with the Board of Directors and Management team during the 

financial year were immaterial. Group companies have intercompany transac-

tions which are related to administrative and services. These are eliminated 

upon consolidation.

Loans 

Caruna Networks Oy has a shareholder loan of EUR 933,642 (1,040,349) 

thousand from the owners First State Investment, Borealis, Keva and Elo 

through Suomi Power Networks TopCo B.V. and its subsidiaries. The outstand-

ing amount of the accrued interest on the shareholder loan was EUR 20,281 

(22,599) thousand.

Loans are specified in the Note 16 Financial assets and liabilities.
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Parent company  
financial statements

PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

EUR Note
1 January 2016– 

31 December 2016
1 January 2015– 

31 December 2015

NET SALES 3 3,761,211.43 3,564,085.35

Other operating income 4 - 150,000.00

Personnel expenses 5 -2,930,058.30 -3,245,498.56

Other operating expenses 6 -1,934,053.11 -758,190.13

OPERATING LOSS -1,102,899.98 -289,603.34

Financial income and expenses 7 -18,605,733.25 -45,020,872.91

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE 
APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES -19,708,633.23 -45,310,476.25

Appropriations 8 38,000,000.00 -

Income taxes 9 - -

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 18,291,366.77 -45,310,476.25
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

EUR Note 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

ASSETS

Non current assets 10

Investments 266,108,600.47 226,108,600.47

Total non current assets 266,108,600.47 226,108,600.47

Current assets 11

Non-current receivables 2,835,681,400.19 2,600,349,163.38

Current receivables 132,122,358.62 129,734,671.90

Cash and cash equivalents 21,589,685.61 49,099,304.12

Total current assets 2,989,393,444.42 2,779,183,139.40

TOTAL ASSETS 3,255,502,044.89 3,005,291,739.87

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 12

Share capital 2,500.00 2,500.00

Invested distributable equity fund 171,203,600.47 171,203,600.47

Hedging reserves -4,757,111.46 0.00

Retained earnings (cumulative loss) -51,505,046.01 -6,194,569.76

Profit (loss) for the financial year 18,291,366.77 -45,310,476.25

Total equity 133,235,309.77 119,701,054.46

Provisions 13 - 59,192.52

Liabilities 14

Non-current liabilities 3,070,822,168.49 2,846,446,568.39

Current liabilities 51,444,566.63 39,084,924.50

Total liabilities 3,122,266,735.12 2,885,531,492.89

TOTAl EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,255,502,044.89 3,005,291,739.87
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1. Accounting principles
The financial statements of Caruna Networks Oy have been prepared in 

accordance with Finnish Accounting Standards and other regulation and 

legislation governing preparing of financial statements.

1.1 NET SALES

The revenue includes income from financial administration services, financial 

services and management ser-vices from group companies

1.2 FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS AND DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates pre-

vailing at the transaction dates. Foreign currency receivables and liabilities 

were converted into euros using the exchange rate prevailing on the balance 

sheet date. The exchange differences are recorded in the income statement.

1.2.1 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – RECOGNITION 

Caruna Networks Oy has changed its accounting policies regarding 

derivatives to meet the criteria of KILA 1963/2016 and has applied 

the IFRS approach. Caruna Networks Oy has applied hedge accounting 

to curren-cy swap agreement 31.12.2016. The company did not have 

any derivatives under hedge accounting at 31.12.2015. The change in 

accounting policies have no impact on the figures in comparison period 

2015.

The Company measures financial instruments, such as derivatives at 

fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is the price that would 

be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The 

fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transac-

tion to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 

market for the asset or liability

Notes to the parent company 
financial statements
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The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by 

Caruna Networks Oy.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assump-

tions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 

liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 

interest. Caruna Network Oy uses valuation techniques that are appro-

priate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 

to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 

and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. All assets and liabilities 

for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 

are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 

based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value meas-

urement as a whole:

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 

indirectly observable

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements 

on a recurring basis, Caruna Group determines whether transfers have 

occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisa-

tion (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

1.2.2 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING  

The company uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest 

rate swaps and currency swaps to hedge its interest rate risks. Such 

derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on 

the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subse-

quently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial 

assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the 

fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives 

are taken directly to profit or loss, except for the effective portion 

of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in hedge reserve and later 

reclassified to profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss.
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For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as cash flow 

hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is 

attributable to interest rate risk associated with a recognised liability.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the company formally des-

ignates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group 

wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective 

and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes 

identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of 

the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness 

of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the 

exposure to changes in the hedged item’s cash flows attributable to the 

hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achiev-

ing offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing 

basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective through-

out the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are account-

ed for, as described below:

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 

recognised in hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised 

immediately in the statement of profit or loss. Amounts recognised as 

hedge reserve are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged trans-

action affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income 

or financial expense is recognised. 

When hedge accounting is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss pre-

viously recognised in hedge reserve is reclassified from equity to profit 

or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods 

during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss. If the 

hedged item does no longer exist (i.e. the loan is repaid prematurely) 

any related cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has 

been recognised in other comprehensive income from the period when 

the hedge was effective is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 

reclassification adjustment.

1.3 PENSIONS

The pension coverage for employees is provided through insurance policies 

taken out with a pension institution. The statutory pension expenses are 

recognised as expenses in the year they incurred.
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1.4 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of 

transaction costs. Loans of the company are long-term.

1.5 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when Caruna Networks Oy has a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an out-

flow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit or loss.
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2. Group information
Caruna Networks Oy is consolidated in Suomi Power Networks TopCo B.V. and 

its Dutch subsidiary Suomi Power BV owns 100% of the shares in Caruna 

Networks Oy.

Suomi Power Networks TopCo B.V. has a registered office in Amsterdam, The 

Netherlands. The consolidated financial statements of Suomi Power Networks 

TopCo B.V. according to IFRS are available at Suomi Power Networks TopCo B.V. 

head quarters in Luna Arena, Herikerbergweg 112, 1101 CM Amsterdam, The 

Netherlands.

The shareholders of Caruna Networks Oy through Suomi Power Networks 

TopCo B.V. are mutual pension insurance companies Keva (12,5 %) and Elo (7,5 

%), and international infrastructure investors First State Investments (40 %) 

and Borealis Infrastructure (40 %).

3. Net sales by geographical 
markets 

Net sales by geographical markets (EUR) 2016 2015

Finland 3,761,211.43 3,564,085.35

Total 3,761,211.43 3,564,085.35

4. Other operating income

Other operating income (EUR) 2016 2015

Other - 150,000.00

Total - 150,000.00
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5. Notes relating to personnel 

Personnel expenses (EUR) 2016 2015

Wages and salaries 2,394,223.84 2,590,892.99

Other personnel expenses

Pension expenses 448,203.12 552,957.28

Other personnel expenses 87,631.34 101,648.29

Total 2,930,058.30 3,245,498.56

Number of personnel

Average number of personnel during 
the financial year 18 17

Salaries and other short term 
employee benefits to management

To board member, CEO  
and management group 2,204,519 782,682

 

CEO Ari Koponen resigned from his post in October 2016. In December, Caruna 

Networks Oy’s Board of Directors appointed Tomi Yli-Kyyny as the new CEO. He 

will start in May 2017. Meanwhile, the Group’s Chief Financial Officer,  

Jyrki Tammivuori, took on the responsibilities of acting CEO.

6. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses (EUR) 2016 2015

Rents 6,588.12 11,572.27

Other expenses 1,927,464.99 746,617.86

Total 1,934,053.11 758,190.13

Auditor’s fees  
Deloitte & Touche Oy, Audit Firm 2016 2015

Audit fees 239,457.67 202,092.47

Other fees 185,690.00 -

Total 425,147.67 202,092.47
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7. Financial income and expenses

Other interest and financial income (EUR) 2016 2015

Other interest and financial income

From group companies 136,366,650.23 119,537,517.22

From others 4,080,987.01 0.64

Total other interest and financial income 140,447,637.24 119,537,517.86

Interest expenses and other financial expenses

To others

Senior loan interest and financial expenses -42,310,877.33 -18,773,695.95

Interest swap expenses *) -12,691,561.26 -44,762,589.97

Other interest and financial expenses -22,044,624.90 -3,315,665.33

Total -77,047,063.49 -66,851,951.25

To group companies

Junior loan interest expenses -870,837.50 -8,959,433.79

Shareholder loan interest expenses -81,135,469.50 -88,747,005.73

Total -82,006,307.00 -97,706,439.52

Total interest expenses and other financial expenses -159,053,370.49 -164,558,390.77

Total financial income and expenses -18,605,733.25 -45,020,872.91

*) The company refinanced its loans at February 2016 and therefore the fair 

value of hedged interest rate swaps has been recoqnised in the profit and 

loss statement and as an accrued liability in balance sheet in 2015. The Other 

interest and financial expenses in 2016 include costs related to refinancing of 

the loans
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8. Appropriations

Appropriations (EUR) 2016 2015

Group contribution 38,000,000.00 -

9. Income taxes
The company has not booked deferred tax assets from confirmed losses 2013, 

2014 and 2015 of 463,363.04 EUR.

10. Assets

Investments (EUR) 2016 2015

Investments
Investments in 

 group companies
Investments in 

 group companies

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 226,108,600.47 171,108,600.47

Additions 40,000,000.00 55,000,000.00

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 266,108,600.47 226,108,600.47

Carrying amount 
31 Dec 266,108,600.47 226,108,600.47

Total assets 266,108,600.47 226,108,600.47
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11. Current receivables

Current receivables (EUR) 2016 2015

Long-term receivables

Receivables from group companies

Loan receivables

Junior loan receivables - 150,000,000.00

Senior loan receivables - 1,350,000,000.00

Shareholder loan receivables 998,465,152.92 995,349,163.38

Other loan receivables 1,830,000,000.00 105,000,000.00

Total receivables from group companies 2,828,465,152.92 2,600,349,163.38

Receivables from others

Prepayments and accrued income

Other prepayments and accrued income 7,216,247.27 -

Total long-term receivables 2,835,681,400.19 2,600,349,163.38

Short-term receivables

Receivables from group companies

Cash pool account 59,054,836.30 102,871,455.80

Prepayments and accrued income 34,606,975.88 26,282,145.72

Group contributions 38,000,000.00 0.00

Other accrued income 0.00 576,084.49

Total 131,661,812.18 129,729,686.01

Prepayments and accrued income 460,546.44 4,985.89

Cash and cash equivalents 21,589,685.61 49,099,304.12

Total current receivables 153,712,044.23 49,104,290.01

Specification of prepayments and accrued income

Accrued interest income from group companies

Junior loan interest income - 2,054,283.33

Shareholder loan interest income 21,688,881.93 21,729,806.84

Other interest interest income 12,918,093.95 2,498,055.55

Other prepayments and accrued income 460,546.44 4,985.89

Total 35,067,522.32 26,287,131.61

 

Receivables from group companies includes cash pool account of eur 59,054,836.30. The company’s option to 

reclaim these resources is limited to other cash pool account balances by other group companies.
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12. Equity

Equity (EUR) 2016 2015

Restricted equity

Share capital 1 Jan 2,500.00 2,500.00

Share capital 31 Dec 2,500.00 2,500.00

Hedging reserves 1.1. - -

Change in hedging reserves -4,757,111.46 -

Hedging reserves 31.12. -4,757,111.46 0.00

Total restricted equity -4,754,611.46 2,500.00

Unrestricted equity

Invested distributable equity fund 1 Jan 171,203,600.47 171,203,600.47

Additions in Invested distributable equity fund - -

Invested distributable equity fund 31 Dec 171,203,600.47 171,203,600.47

Retained earnings 1 Jan -51,505,046.01 -6,194,569.76

Retained earnings 31 Dec -51,505,046.01 -6,194,569.76

Profit (loss) for the period 18,291,366.77 -45,310,476.25

Total unrestricted equity 137,989,921.23 119,698,554.46

Total equity 133,235,309.77 119,701,054.46

Distributable unrestricted equity 2016 2015

Loss from previous financial years -51,505,046.01 -6,194,569.76

Loss for the period 18,291,366.77 -45,310,476.25

Invested distributable equity fund 171,203,600.47 171,203,600.47

Hedging reserves -4,757,111.46 0.00

Total 133,232,809.77 119,698,554.46

13. Provisions

Provisions (EUR) 2016 2015

Other provisions - 59,192.52
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14. Liabilities
Liabilities (EUR) 2016 2015

Non current liabilities

Loans from the group companies 933,641,586.65 1,190,349,163.37

Loans from financial institutions 2,106,150,744.71 1,632,000,000.00

Other liabilities 31,029,837.13 24,097,405.02

Total 3,070,822,168.49 2,846,446,568.39

Current liabilities

Trade payables 416,115.63 1,345,333.99

Other current liabilities 1,601,808.22 803,602.28

Accrued expenses 20,164,373.20 11,882,482.18

Liabilities to group companies

Cash pool account 8,981,499.54 400,527.00

Accrued expenses 20,280,770.04 24,652,979.05

Total Current liabilities 51,444,566.63 39,084,924.50

Non-interest bearing liabilities 73,492,904.22 62,781,802.52

Interest bearing liabilities 3,048,773,830.90 2,822,749,690.37

Specification of accrued expenses

Accrued nterest expenses to group companies

Accrued shareholder loan interest expenses 20,280,770.04 22,598,695.72

Accrued junior loan interest expenses - 2,054,283.33

Accrued employee expenses 834,115.28 728,062.91

Accrued interest expenses, other 18,549,581.92 81,246.90

Other accrued expenses 780,676.00 11,073,172.37

Total 40,445,143.24 36,535,461.23

Fair value Hierachy of financial derivatives  
valued at fair value

Derivative liabilities recoqnised at fair value Level 2 Level 2

Cross currency swaps 137,015.20 -

Interest rate swaps 30,892,821.93 34,807,362.80

Interest rate and cross currency swaps (EUR) 2016 2015

On demand - -

Less than 3 months - -

4 to 12 months - -

1 to 5 years 30,892,821.93 34,807,362.80

After 5 years 137,015.20 -

Total 31,029,837.13 34,807,362.80
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15. Commitments  
and contingent liabilities

Commitments and contingent liabilities (EUR) 2016 2015

Commitments and contingent liabilities

Operating lease liabilities

Payable during one year - 15,950.00

Payable after one year - 124.00

Other commitments

Loans, for which shares and other assets have been pledged

Loans from financial institutions (senior-loan) 2,106,150,744.71 1,632,000,000.00

Bookvalue of pledged subsidiary shares 266,108,600.47 226,108,600.47

Floating charges 2,220,000,000.00 2,220,000,000.00

Loans receivables 2,828,465,152.92 2,600,349,163.38

Cashpool receivables 59,054,836.30 102,871,455.80

Guarantees on behalf of group companies 20,443,224.14 20,437,153.51

Caruna Oy has given guarantees and security for the obligations of other group 

companies as well as Caruna Networks B.V. and Suomi Power B.V. under the 

finance documents. This guarantee and security liability has expressly not been 

assumed by Caruna Oy to the extent such assumption would constitute unlawful 

distribution of assets within the meaning of Chapter 13, Section 1 of the Finnish 

Companies Act, unlawful financial assistance within the meaning of Chapter 13, 

Section 10 of the Finnish Companies Act or be otherwise in breach of any other 

applicable mandatory provisions of Finnish law.

Company’s bank accounts, EUR 21 589 685,61 (49 099 304,12) have been 

pledged as security for loans from financial institutions.

The company’s loans include covenants. The breakage of covenants may lead to 

increased cost of financing or withdrawal of the loan. The company has fulfilled 

the covenants and these are continously monitored.

The company had pledged bank accounts related to previous Loans from finan-

cial institutions (senior-loan). The bank accounts have been closed during 2016.

The company has pledged possible liabilities arising from electricity hedging on 

behalf of its subsidiaries
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16. Holdings in other companies

Name 
Caruna Networks 

Sähkönsiirto Oy
Caruna Networks 

Espoo Oy
Caruna Oy Caruna Espoo Oy

Ownership, % 100 100 100 100

Registered office Espoo Espoo Espoo Espoo

Share capital, EUR 2,500 2,500 2,000,000 4,000,000

Equity, EUR 173,412,116.67 438,259,296.22 22,322,215.90 20,176,121.00

Profit/loss for the period, EUR 56,599,425.31 7,158,780.62 -7,090,129.26 1,320,433.42

17. Formulas for key figures

ROE %

(Loss before appropriations and taxes - taxes) x 100   

Equity (average for the period) 

Operating profit %

Operating profit % x 100

Net sales

Equity ratio

Equity x 100    

Total assets
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Signatures to operating and financial review 
and financial statements

Espoo 2 March 2017

 

Jyrki Tammivuori 

Managing Director

 

Juha Laaksonen 

Chairman of the Board

 

Ralph Berg 

Member of the Board

 

Jouni Grönroos 

Member of the Board

 

Niall Mills 

Member of the Board

 

Alejandro Lopez Delgado 

Member of the Board

 

Tomas Pedraza 

Member of the Board

 

Gregor Kurth 

Deputy Member of the Board

 

Delphine Voeltzel 

Deputy Member of the Board
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Auditor’s note

An auditor’s report based on the audit performed has been issued today.

Espoo 2 March 2017

 

 

Deloitte & Touche Oy 

Audit Firm

 

 

Jukka Vattulainen 

APA
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